New Genes that Influence Longevity and ER Unfolded Protein Response in C. elegans

by

Hung-jen Shih

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Cell and Developmental Biology) in the University of Michigan 2022

Doctoral Committee:

Professor Billy Tsai, Chair Adjunct Associate Professor Patrick J Hu Professor Scott Pletcher Associate Professor Scott Soleimanpour Hung-jen Shih

hjshih@umich.edu

ORCID iD: 0000-0003-4662-7901

© Hung-jen Shih 2022

Dedication

To my family and friends who always give me the unconditional support and freedom to keep doing the stuff I like.

Acknowledgements

PhD training is unique for everyone but I am certain my graduate education is beyond unique. I want to thank my mentor Patrick Hu for his continuous guidance and support dated back to the period when I was still an inexperienced undergraduate student. Patrick's enthusiasm, emphasis on experimental rigor, accuracy in oral and written communication, and scientific vision have significantly influenced my development as a scientist. It has been my honor and enjoyment to work closely with Patrick and to learn from him. I am particularly grateful to Patrick for his commitment to my scientific training and development during the time when the lab moved from the University of Michigan to Vanderbilt University Medical Center and through the COVID-19 lockdown period. The change in environmental circumstances posed unexpected challenges to my dissertation projects but I truly appreciate Patrick for investing his time and energy to help me overcome all the difficulties I have encountered.

I would like to thank my thesis committee members, Drs. Billy Tsai, Scott Pletcher, and Scott Soleimanpour. My committee has continually helped to guide the development of my dissertation projects even when I had to shift the direction of my research focus. Most of all, I would like to thank my committee for always sharing constructive advice to aid the advancement of my projects and raising challenging questions with different perspectives to help me approach my research from a different angle.

The former members of the Hu lab have provided invaluable help with my projects. I especially thank Katie Dumas for being my first mentor who introduced me into the field of genetics as a complete novice. Colin Delaney and Joe Kruempel are great companies and respectable colleagues. I thank their willingness of teaching me worm techniques and generosity of sharing reagents. The foundations of my projects are delicate works pioneered by Albert Chen, Omar Itani, and Jeeyeon Cha. The results of this dissertation would not have been possible without their prior work.

I am also grateful to Dr. Roman Giger, Kristen Hug, and Dr. Jacqueline Popma from the Department of Cell and Developmental Biology. Their excellent support was indispensable to

iii

help me stay focused on my benchwork and minimize the burden of maintaining my international student status while I worked remotely in Nashville.

Lastly, I thank my family and friends for their unwavering support and encouragement through my journey of graduate school and all of my life. I especially thank my wife, Tzu-ning Wu, who tirelessly took good care of me and our daughter, Liliane, during her first 8 months of life and gave me the luxury of uninterrupted time for a first-time parent to work in lab and write my dissertation. I could not have completed my doctoral degree without you.

Table of Contents

Dedicationii
Acknowledgementsiii
List of Figures
Abstractx
Chapter 1 Introduction 1
Insulin/IGF-1 signaling (IIS) pathway is conserved in <i>C. elegans</i> and mammals
DAF-16/FoxO transcription factor promotes longevity
Dauer arrest as a readout for DAF-16/FoxO activity7
Pathways that regulate dauer in addition to IIS
EAK-7 acts parallel to AKT-1 to enhance dauer
SEAK screen identified novel regulators of dauer14
Conclusions and future directions15
References 17
Chapter 2 ACS-3 Promotes Longevity in <i>C. elegans</i>
Abstract
Introduction
Results
Acyl-CoA synthase ACS-3 is required for DAF-2 life span extension
ACS-3::GFP is expressed in glial cells, seam cells, and vulva
ACS-3 is necessary for <i>daf-2</i> life span extension but not sufficient to extend life span 31
Discussion

Materials and Methods	. 38
C. elegans strains and maintenance	. 38
Life span assays	. 38
Transgenic strain construction	. 38
Confocal microscopy	. 39
References	. 39
Chapter 3 Collagen COL-75 induces ER Unfolded Protein Response Cell Non-autonomously <i>C. elegans</i>	in . 44
Abstract	. 44
Introduction	. 45
trap-1 is a suppressor of eak-7;akt-1 (seak) gene	. 46
<i>trap-1</i> specifically influences dauer arrest phenotype regulated by IIS	. 47
TRAPα is required for insulin biogenesis	. 48
TRAP-1 is expressed in the ER and regulates ER UPR	. 48
Results	. 49
A genetic screen for modifiers of <i>trap-1</i> mutant phenotype (<i>mtro</i> screen)	. 49
The <i>mtro</i> screen identifies genes that influence ER homeostasis	. 50
Neomorphic <i>col-75</i> alleles activate the ER UPR	. 63
<i>col-75p::dsRed</i> is expressed in amphid socket cells, excretory cells, vulva, and phasmid sheath cells but not in the intestine	. 69
<i>col-75(N162K)</i> may induce <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> expression cell non-autonomously	. 69
Discussion	. 72
Materials and Methods	. 78
C. elegans strains and maintenance	. 78
Genetic screen for modifiers of <i>trap-1</i>	. 79
Transgenic strain construction	. 79

Fluorescence microcopy	
Confocal microscopy	
References	80
Chapter 4 Conclusion and Future Directions	
Overview	
ACS-3 acts downstream of DAF-16/FoxO to promote longevity	85
COL-75 may induce ER UPR cell non-autonomously	87
Conclusion	89
Reference	89

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Schematic of IIS pathway
Figure 1.2 Schematic of TGFβ pathway10
Figure 1.3 Multiple genetic pathways regulate dauer arrest
Figure 2.1 Schematic of <i>C. elegans acs-3</i>
Figure 2.2 <i>acs-3</i> activity is required for life span extension in <i>daf-2/IGFR</i> mutant
Figure 2.3 Tissue-specific expression pattern of a functional ACS-3::GFP transgene
Figure 2.4 ACS-3::GFP rescues the life span phenotype of <i>daf-2;acs-3</i> double mutants
Figure 3.1 <i>ire-1(G26E)</i> is a causal <i>mtro</i> mutant that can suppress <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> expression in <i>trap-1</i> mutant background
Figure 3.2 Schematic of <i>hsp-3</i> genomic region
Figure 3.3 <i>hsp-3(T34A)</i> is a causal <i>mtro</i> mutant that can enhance <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> expression in <i>trap-1</i> mutant background
Figure 3.4 <i>hsp-3(166S)</i> is a causal <i>mtro</i> mutant that can enhance <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> expression in <i>trap-1</i> mutant background
Figure 3.5 <i>hsp-3(mtro deletion)</i> is a causal <i>mtro</i> mutant that can enhance <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> expression in <i>trap-1</i> mutant background
Figure 3.6 An independent <i>hsp-3(ok1083)</i> allele phenocopies <i>hsp-3 mtro</i> mutants and enhances <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> expression in <i>trap-1</i> mutant background
Figure 3.7 <i>pdi-2(K322M)</i> is a causal <i>mtro</i> mutant that can enhance <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> expression in <i>trap-1</i> mutant background
Figure 3.8 <i>pdi-6(W204R)</i> is a causal <i>mtro</i> mutant that can enhance <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> expression in <i>trap-1</i> mutant background
Figure 3.9 <i>smg-2(W723*)</i> is a causal <i>mtro</i> mutant that can enhance <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> expression in <i>trap-1</i> mutant background

Figure 3.10 <i>col-75(N162K)</i> is a causal <i>mtro</i> mutant that can enhance <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> expression in <i>trap-1</i> mutant background
Figure 3.11 <i>eas-1 mutant can not</i> enhance <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> expression in <i>trap-1</i> mutant background
Figure 3.12 XBP-1 is required for induction of <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> caused by <i>col-75(N162K)</i>
Figure 3.13 Schematic of <i>C. elegans</i> COL-75
Figure 3.14 Multiple missense <i>col-75</i> alleles induce <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> expression
Figure 3.15 <i>col-75p::dsRed</i> expression pattern imaged by confocal microscopy
Figure 3.16 <i>col-75p::dsRed</i> expression does not colocalize with <i>hsp-4::GFP</i> expression induced by <i>col-75(N162K)</i>

Abstract

Insulin-like signaling pathway regulates growth, reproduction, metabolism, and aging. In C. elegans, DAF-2/IGFR mutation reduces insulin-like signaling pathway activity and activates DAF-16/FoxO transcription factor to promote life span extension. We and others have shown the DAF-16A and DAF-16F isoforms are the key isoforms that control life span. To elucidate the mechanistic underpinnings of DAF-16/FoxO-dependent life span extension, we performed whole transcriptome profiling and identified isoform-specific DAF-16/FoxO target genes. acs-3, which encodes an acyl-CoA synthetase homologous to human ACSL5, was identified as a redundant target gene regulated by both DAF-16A and F. An acs-3 nonsense mutation significantly suppresses *daf-2* life span extension but does not affect life span in wild-type background. To study the expression pattern of ACS-3, an ACS-3::GFP translational reporter was made and GFP expression was observed in glial, hypodermal, and vulva without obvious expression in the intestine. This ACS-3::GFP expression pattern is biologically relevant because the ACS-3::GFP transgene is able to rescue the shortened life span of *acs-3;daf-2* double mutant to a comparable life span of a *daf-2* single mutant. Tissue-specific experiments reconstituting ACS-3 in the tissues identified by the ACS-3::GFP translational reporter will determine the tissue requirement for rescuing the shortened life span of *daf-2;acs-3* double mutant and provide insight to elucidate the molecular mechanisms of life span regulation mediated by DAF-16/FoxO.

TRAP-1 (<u>t</u>ranslocon-<u>a</u>ssociated <u>p</u>rotein-1) is a novel regulator of insulin biogenesis in mammalian cells and specifically modulates FoxO activity through the insulin-like signaling

pathway in C. elegans. Our studies found TRAP-1 is localized to the ER and loss of trap-1 activity can increase the expression level of *hsp-4::GFP* reporter which is a proxy for ER unfolded protein response (UPR). A genetic screen was performed to identify mutations that can modify hsp-4::GFP expression caused by trap-1 mutation (mtro screen). A col-75 missense mutant was identified as a mtro gene candidate that can increase ER UPR caused by trap-1 and *col-75* single mutant is sufficient to induce *hsp-4::GFP* expression compared to wild-type. To validate col-75 as a bono fide mtro gene, one independent col-75 nonsense allele and two independent *col-75* missense alleles were tested to determine if they are able to phenocopy our col-75 missense mutant emerged from the genetic screen. We found the nonsense allele does not induce *hsp-4::GFP* expression while two independent missense alleles can induce *hsp-4::GFP* expression stronger than wild-type, although to a lesser degree than our mutagenized allele. These results suggest our mutagenized col-75 mutant is a neomorphic allele and the increased hsp-4::GFP phenotype is not due to loss-of-function of COL-75. A col-75 transcriptional dsRed reporter strain was generated to visualize the expression pattern of COL-75 and we found col-75p::dsRed expression in the amphid socket cell, excretory cell, vulva, and phasmid sheath cell. Expression of *col-75p::dsRed* transgene in *col-75;hsp-4::GFP* background does not reveal colocalization of the two transgenes and no *col-75p::dsRed* signal is observed in the intestine where ER UPR is most strongly induced. These suggest col-75 can induce ER UPR cell nonautonomously. Future experiments expressing mutant collagen cDNA in the tissues identified by the col-75p::dsRed can test the ability of missense collagen variants to induce hsp-4::GFP expression cell non-autonomously and will shed light on conserved mechanisms through which collagen missense variants may influence organismal health.

Chapter 1 Introduction

Life is complex and the ultimate goal for the study of life sciences tries to understand complicated questions about living organisms at a molecular level. Fortunately, different organisms, including humans, share similar principles of physiological mechanisms that are evolutionarily conserved to cope with environmental challenges. *Caenorhabditis elegans* is a tiny (larvae are 0.25 millimeter long and adults are 1 millimeter long) non-parasitic nematode that can be isolated from rotten vegetable samples around the world (Frézal and Félix 2015). C. *elegans* has been established as a model organism over 60 years ago thanks to its ease of genetic manipulation. The nematode is a hermaphrodite and under minimal maintenance condition can self-fertilize to produce about 300 progenies, which is particularly suitable for genetic analysis and epistasis studies. In fact, both forward and reverse genetic screens have uncovered fruitful results that deepen our understandings about homologous genes that can cause human diseases as well as genes that are involved in fundamental biological processes. The key discovery of insulin/insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) signaling (IIS) pathway in C. elegans and the demonstration of a single DAF-2/IGFR mutation can extend life span by over two-fold compare to wild-type nematodes have laid the groundwork for studying the biology of aging (Friedman and Johnson 1988a, Kenyon et al. 1993, Kimura et al. 1997, Collins et al. 2007). In addition, forward genetic screen approach identified the alternative splicing of xbp-1 mRNA, which leads to the activation of ER unfolded protein response (UPR) when ER homeostasis is perturbed, underscores the usefulness of C. elegans as a genetic model to study the cellular and molecular processes (Shen et al. 2001, Calfon et al. 2002). This chapter will overview the background

knowledge which enabled our work to identify a novel regulator that promotes longevity in chapter 2 and a previously unknown collagen mutant variant that influences ER UPR in chapter 3.

Insulin/IGF-1 signaling (IIS) pathway is conserved in *C. elegans* and mammals

Insulin/IGF-1 signaling (IIS) pathway is a central signaling transduction pathway that mediates information about nutrient levels to regulate multiple aspects of a living organism including metabolism, growth, development, longevity and behavior. Previous work from different groups indicated that the major component of the IIS pathway is widely conserved in metazoans (González et al. 2009) and the entire IIS pathway is conserved in C. elegans (Engelman et al. 2006). Insulin-like peptides bind to DAF-2/IGFR receptor tyrosine kinase which leads to the autophosphorylation of its intracellular kinase domain. Activation of the DAF-2/IGFR then recruits the insulin receptor substrate and facilitate the activation of AGE-1/PI3Kinase, which catalyzes the conversion of phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate (PIP2) into phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)=triphosphate (PIP3) (Vanhaesebroeck and Alessi 2000). Activated AGE-1/PI3K then facilitates the phosphorylation and activation of AKT/PKB serine threonine kinase via phosphoinositide-dependent kinase PDK-1 (Paradis et al. 1999). Subsequently, AKT phosphorylates DAF-16/FoxO transcription factors at multiple conserved consensus sites. When FoxO is phosphorylated, 14-3-3 protein then binds to FoxO and promotes the sequestration of FoxO in the cytoplasm which in turn inhibits the downstream gene expression controlled by DAF-16/FoxO transcription factor (Brunet et al. 1999, Cahill et al.

2001, Brunet et al. 2002, Obsilova et al. 2005). Thus, under normal circumstances, IIS suppresses the activity of DAF-16/FoxO transcription factor (Figure 1.1).

Figure 1.1 Schematic of IIS pathway.

Adopted from (Baugh and Hu 2020).



DAF-16/FoxO transcription factor promotes longevity

IIS pathway is the first signal transduction pathway shown to regulate life span. Single genetic mutation in AGE-1/PI3K was originally identified from a forward genetic screen looking for extended adult life span in mutant *C. elegans* strains (Klass 1983, Friedman and Johnson 1988a, Friedman and Johnson 1988b, Johnson 1990, Morris et al. 1996). Further studies determined loss-of-function mutation in DAF-2/IGFR can extend life span and such extension requires the IIS downstream gene *daf-16* (Kenyon et al. 1993, Dorman et al. 1995, Kimura et al. 1997). In addition, loss-of-function mutations in other IIS components *pdk-1*, *akt-1*, and *akt-2* are found to increase life span in a DAF-16/FoxO-dependent manner (Paradis and Ruvkun 1998, Paradis et al. 1999, Alam et al. 2010).

FoxO transcription factors are members of the Forkhead superfamily with conserved winged-helix DNA-binding domain (Kaestner et al. 2000). Mammals have four FoxO proteins: FoxO1, FoxO3, FoxO4, and FoxO6 (Kaestner et al. 2000, Hannenhalli and Kaestner 2009) whereas invertebrate model organisms *Drosophila melanogaster* and *C. elegans* express FoxO orthologs from a single genomic locus. In *C. elegans*, three groups of *daf-16* transcripts (a, b, and d/f/h) are transcribed from distinct promoters (Lin et al. 1997, Ogg et al. 1997, Kwon et al. 2010) and the encoded proteins contain phosphorylation sites conserved in human (Lin et al. 1997, Ogg et al. 1997). The same promoter region modulates the transcription of *daf-16d*, *f*, and *h* but they have distinct 5' regions and translational start sites (Kwon et al. 2010). For ease of reading, the group of d/f/h transcripts are henceforth referred to as *daf-16f* collectively. DAF-16A and DAF-16F have been experimentally verified as the major isoform variants necessary for the life span extension effect caused by reduction in IIS (Kwon et al. 2010, Chen et al. 2015). In long-lived *daf-2/IGFR* mutant background, mutations that reduce *daf-16a* and *f* but not *daf-16b* activity

shortens life span to the same extent as *daf-16* null mutations (Lee et al. 2001), indicating *daf-16b* activity is not sufficient to substitute the role of *daf-16a* and *f* in regulating longevity. Furthermore, overexpression of DAF-16B under its endogenous promoter fails to rescue the shortened life span phenotype of *daf-16(null);daf-2* double mutant (Kwon et al. 2010). Together these data implicate the importance of DAF-16A and F isoforms as downstream effectors to regulate longevity while DAF-16B isoform does not play a significant role in life span control.

In addition to IIS, ablation of germline stem cells (Hsin and Kenyon 1999) and dietary restriction (Greer et al. 2007) also extend life span in a DAF-16/FoxO-dependent manner, suggesting conserved mechanisms that influence aging converge on FoxO transcription factors. The underlying mechanism of life span extension caused by reduced IIS and increased DAF-16/FoxO activity is conserved across multiple species. Mutation in the Drosophila insulin receptor substrate *chico* extends life span and this extension depends on the sole *Drosophila* FoxO family member *dFoxO* (Clancy et al. 2001, Yamamoto and Tatar 2011); overexpression of *dFoxO* in the *Drosophila* fat body is sufficient to promote longevity in fruit flies (Hwangbo et al. 2004). IIS can also regulate life span in mammals where adipose tissue-specific knockout of the insulin receptor in mice increases life span and improves resistance to obesity (Bluher et al. 2003) and heterozygous IGF-1 receptor mutant mice live longer than wild-type controls (Holzenberger et al. 2003). Mammalian FoxO transcription factors are associated with many agerelated diseases including insulin resistance, osteoporosis, and cancer (Greer and Brunet 2005, Paik et al. 2007, Hesp et al. 2015). Gene association studies of human centenarian also implicate the critical role of FoxO in regulating longevity. Single nucleotide variants in the human IGF-1 receptor and certain FoxO1A and FoxO3A polymorphisms are enriched in aged population with improved health assessment and delayed morbidity, further strengthening the key function of IIS

and FoxO activity in human longevity (Suh et al. 2008, Willcox et al. 2008, Flachsbart et al. 2009, Li et al. 2009, Joshi et al. 2017).

Dauer arrest as a readout for DAF-16/FoxO activity

IIS has a major function of nutrient sensing and acts as a central signaling pathway to mediate environmental cues to regulate development as well as metabolism. Under optimal conditions at 15-20°C with ample food supply and low population density, C. elegans develops from embryos and reaches adulthood in two to three days though four distinct larval stages (L1-L4). Under adverse environmental conditions, such as high ambient temperature, lack of food, and high population density, C. elegans can enter an alternative developmental L2 larval phase known as L2d and arrest in a developmental diapause called dauer if the adverse environmental conditions do not improve (Cassada and Russell 1975, Golden and Riddle 1984, Hu 2007). Dauer larvae are morphologically distinct with constricted body shape compared to animals undergoing reproductive development, which can be easily identified under a dissecting microscope. In addition, they have thickened cuticle to survive harsh environments (Blaxter 1993) and their oral orifices are closed by an internal plug (Riddle et al. 1981), and their pharynxes are constricted (Vowels and Thomas 1992) and do not pump (Cassada and Russell 1975). Dauer larvae do not undergo metabolic shift from using lipid in the glyoxylate cycle to aerobic respiration that occur in L2 stage (Wadsworth and Riddle 1989) and dauers are resistant to endogenous oxidative stress (Honda et al. 2008). Dauer diapause can persist for months, which is much longer than typical adult life span (Klass and Hirsh 1976). However, once the environmental condition becomes replete again, dauer larvae can resume reproductive development at L4 and have a normal adult life span.

7

Dauer arrest phenotype can be used as a proxy for DAF-16/FoxO activity in the control of IIS. Mutations in IIS promotes dauer arrest in a temperature-dependent manner. Strong mutant alleles of *daf-2/IGFR* arrest as dauers at 25°C where wild-type animals can readily undergo reproductive development (Riddle et al. 1981, Thomas et al. 1993, Gottlieb and Ruvkun 1994). Null alleles of *akt-1*, a conserved component of IIS, develop normally at 25°C, but arrest as dauers at 27°C (Ailion and Thomas 2000). Epistasis analysis revealed that loss of daf-2/IGFR promotes dauer arrest in a DAF-16/FoxO-dependent manner since daf-16(null); daf-2 double mutants do not arrest as dauers at 25°C (Riddle et al. 1981, Thomas et al. 1993, Gottlieb and Ruvkun 1994). Similarly, daf-16/FoxO null mutation fully suppress the life span extension phenotype of *daf-2* and *akt-1* mutants (Kenyon et al. 1993, Paradis and Ruvkun 1998, Kwon et al. 2010). Although DAF-16/FoxO likely regulates dauer arrest and life span via distinct mechanisms and dauer arrest is not solely regulated by IIS, dauer arrest phenotype can still provide a conveniently observable readout for assessing DAF-16/FoxO activity. Furthermore, genetic manipulations enhancing or suppressing dauer phenotype can be useful tools to identify novel conserved signaling pathways that mediates DAF-16/FoxO activity to regulate metabolism and longevity.

Pathways that regulate dauer in addition to IIS

Forward genetic screens have mapped out mutations in multiple neuroendocrine signaling pathways that mediate environmental cues to influence dauer formation (Riddle et al. 1981, Vowels and Thomas 1992, Thomas et al. 1993, Gottlieb and Ruvkun 1994, Gerisch et al. 2001, Jia et al. 2002). Two major classes of abnormal <u>da</u>uer <u>f</u>ormation mutants (daf) have been identified and characterized: dauer-constitutive mutants, or daf-c has high penetrance of dauer formation under favorable conditions, whereas dauer-defective mutants, or daf-d can bypass

8

dauer arrest when animals would typically arrest under dauer-inducing conditions. The evolutionarily conserved TGF β -like pathway and steroid hormone pathway also influence dauer formation in addition to IIS.

The TGF β -like signaling pathway is defined by the daf-c genes *daf-1*, *4*, *7*, *8*, and *14* and the daf-d genes *daf-3* and *daf-5* (Patterson and Padgett 2000). DAF-7/TGF β ligand binds to DAF-1 and DAF-4 heteromeric cell surface TGF β receptors with serine/threonine kinase activity (Georgi et al. 1990, Estevez et al. 1993, Ren et al. 1996). The TGF β receptors DAF-1 and DAF-4 then phosphorylate and activate SMAD transcription factors DAF-8 and DAF-14 but inhibit the SMAD/SNO-SKI complex of DAF-3 and DAF-5 (da Graca et al. 2004, Tewari et al. 2004, Park et al. 2010). The daf-c phenotypes of *daf-8* and *daf-14* implicate their necessity for TGF β pathway activation by DAF-7 to inhibit dauer arrest (Inoue and Thomas 2000), which is consistent with the role of mammalian SMAD transcription factors as positive effectors of TGF β -like signaling (Shi and Massagué 2003). In contrast, *daf-3* mutation is dauer defective and suppresses daf-c phenotypes of *daf-1*, *4*, *7*, *8*, and *14*, suggesting activation of TGF β -like signaling pathway inhibits DAF-3 to promote reproductive development (Patterson et al. 1997) (Figure 1.2).

Figure 1.2 Schematic of TGFβ pathway.

Adopted from (Baugh and Hu 2020).



The conserved IIS and TGF β -like signaling pathway converge on the steroid hormone biosynthesis pathway defined by the daf-c gene daf-9 and daf-d gene daf-12 (Figure 1.3) (Riddle et al. 1981, Albert and Riddle 1988, Thomas et al. 1993, Antebi et al. 1998, Antebi et al. 2000, Gerisch et al. 2001, Jia et al. 2002). DAF-12, encodes a nuclear hormone receptor homologous to vertebrate vitamin D and thyroid hormone receptors, acts as the most downstream regulator of dauer arrest (Antebi et al. 2000). DAF-9 encodes a cytochrome P450 steroid monooxygenase which participates in the bile-acid like hormone biosynthesis of DAF-12 ligands Δ^4 -dafachronic acid and Δ^7 -dafachronic acid (Gerisch et al. 2001, Jia et al. 2002, Gerisch and Antebi 2004, Mak and Ruvkun 2004, Motola et al. 2006). While null mutation of daf-12 inhibits dauer arrest, daf-12 ligand binding domain mutants have daf-c phenotype, suggesting that unliganded DAF-12 can promote dauer arrest (Antebi et al. 2000). daf-9 null animals arrest as dauer constitutively and their dauer phenotype can be suppressed by *daf-12* mutation or by supplementation of exogenous dafachronic acids, suggesting that DAF-9 inhibits the dauer promoting activity of DAF-12 by facilitating the biosynthesis of dafachronic acids (Gerisch et al. 2001, Motola et al. 2006, Sharma et al. 2009, Mahanti et al. 2014).

Figure 1.3 Multiple genetic pathways regulate dauer arrest.

Conserved signal transduction pathways acting in parallel converge on steroid hormone biosynthesis pathway to promote dauer arrest



EAK-7 acts parallel to AKT-1 to enhance dauer

The complex regulation of dauer formation by insulin/IGF-1 signaling has been studied extensively, however, multiple lines of evidence suggest additional regulatory inputs may act in parallel to DAF-2/IGFR to influence DAF-16/FoxO activity. AKT phosphorylates FoxO transcription factors on conserved motifs and leads to cytoplasm sequestration of FoxO. Mutation of all four canonical AKT phosphorylation sites causes constitutive DAF-16/FoxO nuclear localization; however, nuclear DAF-16/FoxO is not sufficient to induce dauer arrest nor life span extension (Lin et al. 2001). Furthermore, knockdown of the 14-3-3 protein promotes nuclear localization of DAF-16/FoxO, but does not promote dauer arrest (Li et al. 2007).

To identify the novel regulators of nuclear DAF-16/FoxO that act in parallel to IIS, we performed a forward genetic screen for enhancers of akt-1 dauer arrest (eak screen) (Hu et al. 2006). akt-1 mutants arrest as dauers at 27°C but undergo reproductive development at 25°C. eak screen mutagenized akt-1 animals and looked for progenies that acquired additional mutations to enhance spontaneous dauer formation in the akt-1 null background at 25°C. eak mutants in wild-type background can develop reproductively at 25°C but exhibit daf-c phenotypes at 27°C, and no combination of eak double mutants increases the penetrance of dauer formation of single eak mutants, suggesting the eak genes act in a single genetic pathway that is independent of IIS (Hu et al. 2006, Zhang et al. 2008, Alam et al. 2010, Dumas et al. 2010). The dauer formation caused by eak mutants requires DAF-16/FoxO since daf-16 null mutation can suppress the daf-c phenotypes of all eak mutations and eak mutants upregulate the expression of canonical daf-16 target genes, suggesting EAK pathway normally inhibits DAF-16/FoxO activity (Hu et al. 2006, Zhang et al. 2010, Dumas et al. 2010).

Six (*eak-2* through 7) of the seven *eak* mutants have been characterized and all of them are expressed in the endocrine XXX cells, where DAF-16/FoxO is not expressed (Hu et al. 2006, Patel et al. 2008, Zhang et al. 2008, Alam et al. 2010, Dumas et al. 2010, Williams et al. 2010). *eak-2* encodes a hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase known as HSD-1 (Patel et al. 2008, Dumas et al. 2010). *hsd-1* does not affect DAF-16/FoxO localization but regulates DAF-16 target gene expression in a nuclear hormone receptor DAF-12-dependent manner (Dumas et al. 2010). Taken together, these data indicate that *eak* pathway may act cell-non-autonomously to inhibit DAF-16/FoxO via endocrine signaling.

EAK-7 encodes a conserved protein that contains a N-terminal myristoylation domain which promotes binding to the cytoplasm membrane and a C-terminal TBC- and LysM-domaincontaining (TLDc) domain with unclear functions but is present in all eukaryotes. EAK-7 is expressed in neurons and intestine in addition to XXX cells (Alam et al. 2010). While DAF-16 is not expressed in the XXX cells, EAK-7 is expressed in multiple tissues that co-express DAF-16/FoxO, suggesting EAK-7 may be the most downstream component of the EAK pathway (Alam et al. 2010). Overexpression of EAK-7::GFP translational fusion protein demonstrated that EAK-7 localizes to the plasma membrane (Alam et al. 2010), suggesting EAK-7 may indirectly regulate nuclear DAF-16/FoxO activity via unknown downstream intermediates (Figure 1.1).

SEAK screen identified novel regulators of dauer

To further understand the possible links between the EAK-7 bound to the cytoplasm membrane and the DAF-16 localized in the nucleus, we conducted a forward genetic screen for mutations that suppress the daf-c phenotype of *eak-7;akt-1* double mutant at 25°C (*seak* screen) (Dumas et al. 2013). We expected to identify *seak* genes that may act downstream of the *eak*

pathway to control nuclear DAF-16/FoxO activity, in the canonical IIS pathway to modulate DAF-16/FoxO subcellular localization, or downstream of or in parallel to DAF-16. The *seak* screen has identified dosage compensation pathway members *dpy-21* and *set-4* whose functions have not been studied in dauer arrest regulation (Yonker and Meyer 2003, Wells et al. 2012). Two X-linked IIS pathway components *akt-2* and *ins-9* have been shown to be required for the suppression of dauer arrest caused by mutations in *dpy-21* and *set-4*, respectively (Dumas et al. 2013, Delaney et al. 2017). Two other *seak* strains have been identified with causal mutations of known dauer arrest regulators, *akt-2* and *daf-12*, which are both on the X chromosomes. A complex genomic rearrangement that increases the gene dosage of *akt-2* and *adf-12* loss-of-function mutant with aberrant splicing have been shown to suppress the dauer arrest phenotype of *eak-7;akt-1* (Itani et al. 2016a, Itani et al. 2016b). More recently, we have identified *trap-1* (translocon-associated protein-1) as a *seak* gene which likely acts upstream of IIS pathway and mediates the biosynthesis of insulin-like peptide ligands for DAF-2/IGFR to regulate dauer formation (Li et al. 2019).

Conclusions and future directions

The study of dauer formation in *C. elegans* was originally set to study the developmental plasticity in response to environmental stimuli. Genetic analyses have unveiled the cellular and molecular underpinnings that regulate dauer arrest and significant progress have been made in defining many conserved components of the intricate signaling transduction pathways governing dauer decision. However, the molecular identity and perception of the environmental signals such as changes in ambient temperature and scarcity in food supply remain obscure. Multiple signaling cascades work together to regulate dauer arrest, and epistasis analysis has revealed that IIS and TGFβ-like pathways converge on the nuclear hormone receptor DAF-12 to control dauer

arrest. Dauer biology offers a relatively easy proxy to study the integrations of these signaling pathways on an organismal level which is not found in other model organisms. Further understanding of the interactions amongst the IIS, TGF β -like pathway, and the steroid hormone pathway has the potential to improve our knowledge about the interactions of similar signaling pathways in the pathogenesis of human diseases such as cancer and diabetes.

FoxO transcription factor has an unequivocal role in regulating longevity and many aging-related diseases. Substantial work has established IIS as a major regulatory input for controlling DAF-16/FoxO subcellular localization. Dauer phenotype has been a useful genetic tool facilitating the identification of the novel EAK pathway that regulates nuclear DAF-16/FoxO activity including. Continued investigation of the SEAK screen promises to reveal new insights into the intermediate mechanism that transduces signals from cytoplasm membrane to the nucleus. Understanding how EAK-7 inhibits DAF-16/FoxO could lead to a new avenue for therapeutics development that promotes healthy aging and decrease chronic illness in the population.

In chapter 2, we conducted a transcriptome profiling analysis of DAF-16/FoxO downstream targets to identify genes that are critical for life span regulation and genetically characterized one of the DAF-16/FoxO targets. To further study the role of SEAK mutant *trap-1*, we performed a forward genetic screen and uncovered novel collagen variants that modulate ER unfolded response in chapter 3.

References

Ailion, M. and Thomas, J. H. (2000). Dauer formation induced by high temperatures in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* **156**(3): 1047-1067.

Alam, H., Williams, T. W., Dumas, K. J., Guo, C., Yoshina, S., Mitani, S. and Hu, P. J. (2010). EAK-7 controls development and life span by regulating nuclear DAF-16/FoxO activity. *Cell metabolism* **12**(1): 30-41.

Albert, P. S. and Riddle, D. L. (1988). Mutants of Caenorhabditis elegans that form dauer-like larvae. *Developmental biology* **126**(2): 270-293.

Antebi, A., Culotti, J. G. and Hedgecock, E. M. (1998). daf-12 regulates developmental age and the dauer alternative in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Development* **125**(7): 1191-1205.

Antebi, A., Yeh, W.-H., Tait, D., Hedgecock, E. M. and Riddle, D. L. (2000). daf-12 encodes a nuclear receptor that regulates the dauer diapause and developmental age in C. elegans. *Genes & development* 14(12): 1512-1527.

Baugh, L. R. and Hu, P. J. (2020). Starvation responses throughout the Caenorhabditis elegans life cycle. *Genetics* **216**(4): 837-878.

Blaxter, M. (1993). Cuticle surface proteins of wild type and mutant Caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **268**(9): 6600-6609.

Bluher, M., Kahn, B. B. and Kahn, C. R. (2003). Extended longevity in mice lacking the insulin receptor in adipose tissue. *Science* **299**(5606): 572-574.

Brunet, A., Bonni, A., Zigmond, M. J., Lin, M. Z., Juo, P., Hu, L. S., Anderson, M. J., Arden, K. C., Blenis, J. and Greenberg, M. E. (1999). Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead transcription factor. *Cell* **96**(6): 857-868.

Brunet, A., Kanai, F., Stehn, J., Xu, J., Sarbassova, D., Frangioni, J. V., Dalal, S. N., DeCaprio, J. A., Greenberg, M. E. and Yaffe, M. B. (2002). 14-3-3 transits to the nucleus and participates in dynamic nucleocytoplasmic transport. *The Journal of cell biology* **156**(5): 817-828.

Cahill, C. M., Tzivion, G., Nasrin, N., Ogg, S., Dore, J., Ruvkun, G. and Alexander-Bridges, M. (2001). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling inhibits DAF-16 DNA binding and function via 14-3-3-dependent and 14-3-3-independent pathways. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **276**(16): 13402-13410.

Calfon, M., Zeng, H., Urano, F., Till, J. H., Hubbard, S. R., Harding, H. P., Clark, S. G. and Ron, D. (2002). IRE1 couples endoplasmic reticulum load to secretory capacity by processing the XBP-1 mRNA. *Nature* **415**(6867): 92-96.

Cassada, R. C. and Russell, R. L. (1975). The dauerlarva, a post-embryonic developmental variant of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. *Developmental biology* **46**(2): 326-342.

Chen, A. T.-Y., Guo, C., Itani, O. A., Budaitis, B. G., Williams, T. W., Hopkins, C. E., McEachin, R. C., Pande, M., Grant, A. R. and Yoshina, S. (2015). Longevity genes revealed by integrative analysis of isoform-specific daf-16/FoxO mutants of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* **201**(2): 613-629.

Clancy, D. J., Gems, D., Harshman, L. G., Oldham, S., Stocker, H., Hafen, E., Leevers, S. J. and Partridge, L. (2001). Extension of life-span by loss of CHICO, a Drosophila insulin receptor substrate protein. *Science* **292**(5514): 104-106.

Collins, J. J., Huang, C., Hughes, S. and Kornfeld, K. (2007). The measurement and analysis of age-related changes in Caenorhabditis elegans. *WormBook, ed. The C. elegans Research Community, WormBook, doi/10.1895/wormbook.1.7.1, <u>http://www.wormbook.org</u>.*

da Graca, L. S., Zimmerman, K. K., Mitchell, M. C., Kozhan-Gorodetska, M., Sekiewicz, K., Morales, Y. and Patterson, Garth I (2004). DAF-5 is a Ski oncoprotein homolog that functions in a neuronal TGFβpathway to regulate C. elegans dauer development. *Development*.

Delaney, C. E., Chen, A. T., Graniel, J. V., Dumas, K. J. and Hu, P. J. (2017). A histone H4 lysine 20 methyltransferase couples environmental cues to sensory neuron control of developmental plasticity. *Development* **144**(7): 1273-1282.

Dorman, J. B., Albinder, B., Shroyer, T. and Kenyon, C. (1995). The age-1 and daf-2 genes function in a common pathway to control the lifespan of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* **141**(4): 1399-1406.

Dumas, K. J., Delaney, C. E., Flibotte, S., Moerman, D. G., Csankovszki, G. and Hu, P. J. (2013). Unexpected role for dosage compensation in the control of dauer arrest, insulin-like signaling, and FoxO transcription factor activity in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* **194**(3): 619-629.

Dumas, K. J., Guo, C., Wang, X., Burkhart, K. B., Adams, E. J., Alam, H. and Hu, P. J. (2010). Functional divergence of dafachronic acid pathways in the control of C. elegans development and lifespan. *Developmental biology* **340**(2): 605-612.

Engelman, J. A., Luo, J. and Cantley, L. C. (2006). The evolution of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases as regulators of growth and metabolism. *Nature Reviews Genetics* **7**(8): 606-619.

Estevez, M., Attisano, L., Wrana, J. L., Albert, P. S., Massagué, J. and Riddle, D. L. (1993). The daf-4 gene encodes a bone morphogenetic protein receptor controlling C. elegans dauer larva development. *Nature* **365**(6447): 644-649.

Flachsbart, F., Caliebe, A., Kleindorp, R., Blanché, H., von Eller-Eberstein, H., Nikolaus, S., Schreiber, S. and Nebel, A. (2009). Association of FOXO3A variation with human longevity

confirmed in German centenarians. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **106**(8): 2700-2705.

Frézal, L. and Félix, M.-A. (2015). The natural history of model organisms: C. elegans outside the Petri dish. *elife* **4**: e05849.

Friedman, D. B. and Johnson, T. E. (1988a). A mutation in the age-1 gene in Caenorhabditis elegans lengthens life and reduces hermaphrodite fertility. *Genetics*(0016-6731).

Friedman, D. B. and Johnson, T. E. (1988b). Three mutants that extend both mean and maximum life span of the nematode, Caenorhabditis elegans, define the age-1 gene. *Journal of gerontology* **43**(4): B102-B109.

Georgi, L. L., Albert, P. S. and Riddle, D. L. (1990). daf-1, a C. elegans gene controlling dauer larva development, encodes a novel receptor protein kinase. *Cell* **61**(4): 635-645.

Gerisch, B. and Antebi, A. (2004). Hormonal signals produced by DAF-9/cytochrome P450 regulate C. elegans dauer diapause in response to environmental cues. *Development*.

Gerisch, B., Weitzel, C., Kober-Eisermann, C., Rottiers, V. and Antebi, A. (2001). A hormonal signaling pathway influencing C. elegans metabolism, reproductive development, and life span. *Developmental cell* **1**(6): 841-851.

Golden, J. W. and Riddle, D. L. (1984). The Caenorhabditis elegans dauer larva: developmental effects of pheromone, food, and temperature. *Developmental biology* **102**(2): 368-378.

González, J. P., Farnés, O. C., Vasconcelos, A. T. R. and Pérez, A. G. (2009). Conservation of key members in the course of the evolution of the insulin signaling pathway. *Biosystems* **95**(1): 7-16.

Gottlieb, S. and Ruvkun, G. (1994). daf-2, daf-16 and daf-23: genetically interacting genes controlling Dauer formation in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* **137**(1): 107-120.

Greer, E. L. and Brunet, A. (2005). FOXO transcription factors at the interface between longevity and tumor suppression. *Oncogene* **24**(50): 7410-7425.

Greer, E. L., Dowlatshahi, D., Banko, M. R., Villen, J., Hoang, K., Blanchard, D., Gygi, S. P. and Brunet, A. (2007). An AMPK-FOXO pathway mediates longevity induced by a novel method of dietary restriction in C. elegans. *Current biology* **17**(19): 1646-1656.

Hannenhalli, S. and Kaestner, K. H. (2009). The evolution of Fox genes and their role in development and disease. *Nature Reviews Genetics* **10**(4): 233-240.

Hesp, K., Smant, G. and Kammenga, J. E. (2015). Caenorhabditis elegans DAF-16/FOXO transcription factor and its mammalian homologs associate with age-related disease. *Experimental gerontology* **72**: 1-7.

Holzenberger, M., Dupont, J., Ducos, B., Leneuve, P., Géloën, A., Even, P. C., Cervera, P. and Le Bouc, Y. (2003). IGF-1 receptor regulates lifespan and resistance to oxidative stress in mice. *Nature* **421**(6919): 182-187.

Honda, Y., Tanaka, M. and Honda, S. (2008). Modulation of longevity and diapause by redox regulation mechanisms under the insulin-like signaling control in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Experimental gerontology* **43**(6): 520-529.

Hsin, H. and Kenyon, C. (1999). Signals from the reproductive system regulate the lifespan of C. elegans. *Nature* **399**(6734): 362-366.

Hu, P. J. (2007). Dauer. WormBook, ed. The C. elegans Research Community, WormBook, doi/10.1895/wormbook.1.7.1, <u>http://www.wormbook.org</u>.

Hu, P. J., Xu, J. and Ruvkun, G. (2006). Two membrane-associated tyrosine phosphatase homologs potentiate C. elegans AKT-1/PKB signaling. *PLoS genetics* **2**(7): e99.

Hwangbo, D. S., Gersham, B., Tu, M.-P., Palmer, M. and Tatar, M. (2004). Drosophila dFOXO controls lifespan and regulates insulin signalling in brain and fat body. *Nature* **429**(6991): 562-566.

Inoue, T. and Thomas, J. H. (2000). Targets of TGF- β signaling in Caenorhabditis elegans dauer formation. *Developmental biology* **217**(1): 192-204.

Itani, O. A., Flibotte, S., Dumas, K. J., Guo, C., Blumenthal, T. and Hu, P. J. (2016b). N-Ethyl-N-Nitrosourea (ENU) Mutagenesis Reveals an Intronic Residue Critical for Caenorhabditis elegans 3 ⁻ Splice Site Function in Vivo. *G3 Genes*|*Genomes*|*Genetics* 6(6): 1751-1756.

Itani, O. A., Flibotte, S., Dumas, K. J., Moerman, D. G. and Hu, P. J. (2016a). Chromoanasynthetic Genomic Rearrangement Identified in a N-Ethyl-N-Nitrosourea (ENU) Mutagenesis Screen in Caenorhabditis elegans. *G3 Genes*|*Genomes*|*Genetics* 6(2): 351-356.

Jia, K., Albert, P. S. and Riddle, D. L. (2002). DAF-9, a cytochrome P450 regulating C. elegans larval development and adult longevity. *Development*.

Johnson, T. E. (1990). Increased life-span of age-1 mutants in Caenorhabditis elegans and lower Gompertz rate of aging. *Science* **249**(4971): 908-912.

Joshi, P. K., Pirastu, N., Kentistou, K. A., Fischer, K., Hofer, E., Schraut, K. E., Clark, D. W., Nutile, T., Barnes, C. L. and Timmers, P. R. (2017). Genome-wide meta-analysis associates HLA-DQA1/DRB1 and LPA and lifestyle factors with human longevity. *Nature communications* **8**(1): 1-13.

Kaestner, K. H., Knöchel, W. and Martínez, D. E. (2000). Unified nomenclature for the winged helix/forkhead transcription factors. *Genes & development* 14(2): 142-146.

Kenyon, C., Chang, J., Gensch, E., Rudner, A. and Tabtiang, R. (1993). A C. elegans mutant that lives twice as long as wild type. *Nature* **366**(6454): 461-464.

Kimura, K. D., Tissenbaum, H. A., Liu, Y. and Ruvkun, G. (1997). daf-2, an Insulin Receptor-Like Gene That Regulates Longevity and Diapause in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Science* **277**(5328): 942-946.

Klass, M. and Hirsh, D. (1976). Non-ageing developmental variant of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature* **260**(5551): 523-525.

Klass, M. R. (1983). A method for the isolation of longevity mutants in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans and initial results. *Mechanisms of ageing and development* **22**(3-4): 279-286.

Kwon, E.-S., Narasimhan, S. D., Yen, K. and Tissenbaum, H. A. (2010). A new DAF-16 isoform regulates longevity. *Nature* **466**(7305): 498-502.

Lee, R. Y., Hench, J. and Ruvkun, G. (2001). Regulation of C. elegans DAF-16 and its human ortholog FKHRL1 by the daf-2 insulin-like signaling pathway. *Current biology* **11**(24): 1950-1957.

Li, J., Tewari, M., Vidal, M. and Lee, S. S. (2007). The 14-3-3 protein FTT-2 regulates DAF-16 in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Developmental biology* **301**(1): 82-91.

Li, X., Itani, O. A., Haataja, L., Dumas, K. J., Yang, J., Cha, J., Flibotte, S., Shih, H.-J., Delaney, C. E., Xu, J., Qi, L., Arvan, P., Liu, M. and Hu, P. J. (2019). Requirement for translocon-associated protein (TRAP) α in insulin biogenesis. *Science advances* **5**(12): eaax0292.

Li, Y., Wang, W.-J., Cao, H., Lu, J., Wu, C., Hu, F.-Y., Guo, J., Zhao, L., Yang, F. and Zhang, Y.-X. (2009). Genetic association of FOXO1A and FOXO3A with longevity trait in Han Chinese populations. *Human molecular genetics* **18**(24): 4897-4904.

Lin, K., Dorman, J. B., Rodan, A. and Kenyon, C. (1997). daf-16: An HNF-3/forkhead Family Member That Can Function to Double the Life-Span of <i>Caenorhabditis elegans</i>. *Science* **278**(5341): 1319-1322.

Lin, K., Hsin, H., Libina, N. and Kenyon, C. (2001). Regulation of the Caenorhabditis elegans longevity protein DAF-16 by insulin/IGF-1 and germline signaling. *Nature genetics* **28**(2): 139-145.

Mahanti, P., Bose, N., Bethke, A., Judkins, J. C., Wollam, J., Dumas, K. J., Zimmerman, A. M., Campbell, S. L., Hu, P. J. and Antebi, A. (2014). Comparative metabolomics reveals endogenous ligands of DAF-12, a nuclear hormone receptor, regulating C. elegans development and lifespan. *Cell metabolism* **19**(1): 73-83.

Mak, H. Y. and Ruvkun, G. (2004). Intercellular signaling of reproductive development by the C. elegans DAF-9 cytochrome P450. *Development*.

Morris, J. Z., Tissenbaum, H. A. and Ruvkun, G. (1996). A phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase family member regulating longevity and diapause in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature* **382**(6591): 536-539.

Motola, D. L., Cummins, C. L., Rottiers, V., Sharma, K. K., Li, T., Li, Y., Suino-Powell, K., Xu, H. E., Auchus, R. J. and Antebi, A. (2006). Identification of ligands for DAF-12 that govern dauer formation and reproduction in C. elegans. *Cell* **124**(6): 1209-1223.

Obsilova, V., Vecer, J., Herman, P., Pabianova, A., Sulc, M., Teisinger, J., Boura, E. and Obsil, T. (2005). 14-3-3 Protein interacts with nuclear localization sequence of forkhead transcription factor FoxO4. *Biochemistry* **44**(34): 11608-11617.

Ogg, S., Paradis, S., Gottlieb, S., Patterson, G. I., Lee, L., Tissenbaum, H. A. and Ruvkun, G. (1997). The Fork head transcription factor DAF-16 transduces insulin-like metabolic and longevity signals in C. elegans. *Nature* **389**(6654): 994-999.

Paik, J.-H., Kollipara, R., Chu, G., Ji, H., Xiao, Y., Ding, Z., Miao, L., Tothova, Z., Horner, J. W. and Carrasco, D. R. (2007). FoxOs are lineage-restricted redundant tumor suppressors and regulate endothelial cell homeostasis. *Cell* **128**(2): 309-323.

Paradis, S., Ailion, M., Toker, A., Thomas, J. H. and Ruvkun, G. (1999). A PDK1 homolog is necessary and sufficient to transduce AGE-1 PI3 kinase signals that regulate diapause in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genes & development* **13**(11): 1438-1452.

Paradis, S. and Ruvkun, G. (1998). Caenorhabditis elegans Akt/PKB transduces insulin receptorlike signals from AGE-1 PI3 kinase to the DAF-16 transcription factor. *Genes & development* **12**(16): 2488-2498.

Park, D., Estevez, A. and Riddle, D. L. (2010). Antagonistic Smad transcription factors control the dauer/non-dauer switch in C. elegans. *Development* **137**(3): 477-485.

Patel, D. S., Fang, L. L., Svy, D. K., Ruvkun, G. and Li, W. (2008). Genetic identification of HSD-1, a conserved steroidogenic enzyme that directs larval development in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Development*.

Patterson, G. I., Koweek, A., Wong, A., Liu, Y. and Ruvkun, G. (1997). The DAF-3 Smad protein antagonizes TGF- β -related receptor signaling in the Caenorhabditis elegansdauer pathway. *Genes & development* **11**(20): 2679-2690.

Patterson, G. I. and Padgett, R. W. (2000). TGF β -related pathways: roles in Caenorhabditis elegans development. *Trends in genetics* **16**(1): 27-33.

Ren, P., Lim, C.-S., Johnsen, R., Albert, P. S., Pilgrim, D. and Riddle, D. L. (1996). Control of C. elegans larval development by neuronal expression of a TGF- β homolog. *Science* **274**(5291): 1389-1391.

Riddle, D. L., Swanson, M. M. and Albert, P. S. (1981). Interacting genes in nematode dauer larva formation. *Nature* **290**(5808): 668-671.

Sharma, K. K., Wang, Z., Motola, D. L., Cummins, C. L., Mangelsdorf, D. J. and Auchus, R. J. (2009). Synthesis and activity of dafachronic acid ligands for the C. elegans DAF-12 nuclear hormone receptor. *Molecular endocrinology* **23**(5): 640-648.

Shen, X., Ellis, R. E., Lee, K., Liu, C.-Y., Yang, K., Solomon, A., Yoshida, H., Morimoto, R., Kurnit, D. M. and Mori, K. (2001). Complementary signaling pathways regulate the unfolded protein response and are required for C. elegans development. *Cell* **107**(7): 893-903.

Shi, Y. and Massagué, J. (2003). Mechanisms of TGF- β signaling from cell membrane to the nucleus. *Cell* **113**(6): 685-700.

Suh, Y., Atzmon, G., Cho, M.-O., Hwang, D., Liu, B., Leahy, D. J., Barzilai, N. and Cohen, P. (2008). Functionally significant insulin-like growth factor I receptor mutations in centenarians. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **105**(9): 3438-3442.

Tewari, M., Hu, P. J., Ahn, J. S., Ayivi-Guedehoussou, N., Vidalain, P.-O., Li, S., Milstein, S., Armstrong, C. M., Boxem, M. and Butler, M. D. (2004). Systematic interactome mapping and genetic perturbation analysis of a C. elegans TGF- β signaling network. *Molecular cell* **13**(4): 469-482.

Thomas, J. H., Birnby, D. A. and Vowels, J. J. (1993). Evidence for parallel processing of sensory information controlling dauer formation in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* **134**(4): 1105-1117.

Vanhaesebroeck, B. and Alessi, D. R. (2000). The PI3K–PDK1 connection: more than just a road to PKB. *Biochemical Journal* **346**(3): 561-576.

Vowels, J. J. and Thomas, J. H. (1992). Genetic analysis of chemosensory control of dauer formation in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* **130**(1): 105-123.

Wadsworth, W. G. and Riddle, D. L. (1989). Developmental regulation of energy metabolism in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Developmental biology* **132**(1): 167-173.

Wells, M. B., Snyder, M. J., Custer, L. M. and Csankovszki, G. (2012). Caenorhabditis elegans dosage compensation regulates histone H4 chromatin state on X chromosomes. *Molecular and cellular biology* **32**(9): 1710-1719.

Willcox, B. J., Donlon, T. A., He, Q., Chen, R., Grove, J. S., Yano, K., Masaki, K. H., Willcox, D. C., Rodriguez, B. and Curb, J. D. (2008). FOXO3A genotype is strongly associated with human longevity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **105**(37): 13987-13992.

Williams, T. W., Dumas, K. J. and Hu, P. J. (2010). EAK proteins: novel conserved regulators of C. elegans lifespan. *Aging (Albany NY)* **2**(10): 742.

Yamamoto, R. and Tatar, M. (2011). Insulin receptor substrate chico acts with the transcription factor FOXO to extend Drosophila lifespan. *Aging cell* **10**(4): 729-732.

Yonker, S. A. and Meyer, B. J. (2003). Recruitment of C. elegans dosage compensation proteins for gene-specific versus chromosome-wide repression. *Development*.

Zhang, Y., Xu, J., Puscau, C., Kim, Y., Wang, X., Alam, H. and Hu, P. J. (2008). Caenorhabditis elegans EAK-3 inhibits dauer arrest via nonautonomous regulation of nuclear DAF-16/FoxO activity. *Developmental biology* **315**(2): 290-302.
Chapter 2 ACS-3 Promotes Longevity in *C. elegans* Abstract

FoxO transcription factors promote longevity in multiple model organisms. Polymorphisms in human FoxO genes are associated with centenarians and FoxO transcription factors may modulate several aging-related diseases. How does FoxO transcription factor regulate its downstream transcriptional programs to influence life span remains poorly understood. In C. elegans, A- and F-isoforms of DAF-16/FoxO transcription factor extend life span in the context of reduced insulin-like signaling. To further investigate the mechanisms underlying DAF-16/FoxO-dependent longevity, we used whole transcriptome profiling to define the downstream target genes of isoform-specific *daf-16/FoxO* mutants. We identified *acs-3* as an induced target gene regulated redundantly by both DAF-16A and F isoforms in *daf-2/IGFR* mutant background. acs-3 is necessary but not sufficient for full life span extension in the context of reduced insulin-like signaling. acs-3 encodes a conserved acyl-coA synthase but the in vivo function has yet to be determined. A functional ACS-3::GFP fusion protein is expressed specifically in glial cells, seam cells, and vulva. Lipid metabolism has been shown to play an important role in aging and fatty acid profile with high mono-unsaturated fatty acid (MUFA) composition is associated with long life. ACS-3 may act on certain MUFA species to influence life span. We propose using metabolomic approach for future studies to identify the fatty acid substrates of ACS-3, which may provide mechanistic insights for the pro-longevity function of

ACS-3 in *C. elegans* and offer new avenues for therapeutic development to treat common diseases in elder population.

Introduction

DAF-16/FoxO transcription factor is the major regulator for life span extension caused by reduced insulin/IGF-1 signaling (Kenyon et al. 1993, Paradis and Ruvkun 1998). FoxO transcription factors have a conserved role in regulating life span across taxa and influence the pathogenesis of many aging-associated diseases in human (Lin et al. 1997, Clancy et al. 2001, Bluher et al. 2003, Bartke 2011, Yamamoto and Tatar 2011, Shimokawa et al. 2015, Joshi et al. 2017). Elucidating the mechanism how DAF-16/FoxO promotes life span extension can provide insights in to the aging process and offer new approaches to treat and prevent diseases that have high frequencies of affecting the elder population.

Given the general function of DAF-16/FoxO as a transcription factor, many research groups have invested substantial effort and resources to investigate the expression profile of DAF-16/FoxO and collectively identified thousands of DAF-16/FoxO-regulated downstream target genes (McElwee et al. 2003, Murphy et al. 2003, McElwee et al. 2004, Murphy 2006, Chen et al. 2015). Murphy and colleagues (2003) assayed about 60 DAF-16/FoxO target genes for their functions in DAF-16/FoxO-dependent life span extension using RNAi-based knockdown method. Their results suggest that most single gene RNAi knockdowns have relatively small effects on longevity, leading to the conclusion that DAF-16/FoxO promotes longevity through the cumulative regulation of multiple effector genes. However, the vast number of DAF-16/FoxO targets poses a challenge for detailed functional analysis of each individual target in a systematic manner. Several groups have developed various filtering approaches to prioritize a more tractable subset of DAF-16/FoxO target genes that would allow more careful interrogation of specific genes and study their roles in extending life span but the mechanistic basis for longevity regulation by DAF-16/FoxO remains poorly understood (Lee et al. 2003, Oh et al. 2006, Tepper et al. 2013, Tullet et al. 2014, Chen et al. 2015, Kaletsky et al. 2016).

The *daf-16*/FoxO locus encodes multiple transcripts that are transcribed from distinct promoters in C. elegans (Lin et al. 1997, Ogg et al. 1997, Kwon et al. 2010). Two transcripts encode polypeptides predicted to contain only half of the Forkhead DNA binding domain and they probably do not bind DNA to regulate gene expression. One transcript contains a unique Nterminal fragment that includes partial Forkhead DNA binding domain and does not play a major role in life span control (Ogg et al. 1997, Kwon et al. 2010). Two major DAF-16 isoforms, DAF-16A and DAF-16F, extend life span in animals with reduced DAF-2/IGFR signaling (Kwon et al. 2010, Chen et al. 2015). Our previous study has generated loss-of-function DAF-16 isoformspecific mutant alleles to evaluate the effect of individual DAF-16 isoforms on life span extension caused by reduction in IIS (Chen et al. 2015). We found that when both DAF-16A and F isoforms are mutated, daf-16a/f;daf-2 double mutant has similar longevity phenotype as daf-16(null);daf-2 mutant in suppressing life span extension caused by daf-2/IGFR mutant (Chen et al. 2015). This suggests both DAF-16A and DAF-16F are required for the longevity of IIS mutant. In contrast, daf-16f;daf-2 double mutant has similar life span as a daf-2 single mutant, indicating that DAF-16A isoform plays a more important role than DAF-16F isoform in life span control (Chen et al. 2015). When we examined the life span shortening effect of daf-16a isoform-specific mutant in *daf-2* mutant background, loss of *daf-16a* activity partially reduces the long-lived daf-2 life span but to a much lesser degree than the reduction observed in daf*16a/f;daf-2* and *daf-16(null);daf-2* double mutants (Chen et al. 2015). This suggests DAF-16A isoform by itself is not sufficient to fully control life span.

Inactivation of either *daf-16a* or *daf-16f* alone by RNAi modestly shortens the life span in *daf-2/IGFR* mutant background compared to pan-*daf-16*-RNAi that targets all *daf-16/FoxO* isoforms (Kwon et al. 2010). However, when we treated RNAi targeting DAF-16F isoform on *daf-16a;daf-2* double mutant to knockdown DAF-16F activity, we saw significant shortening of life span to a similar extent as treating *daf-16a;daf-2* double mutant with pan-daf-16 RNAi (Chen et al. 2015). Taken together, we think DAF-16/FoxO target genes that are primarily regulated by DAF-16A isoform as well as target genes redundantly regulated by both DAF-16A and DAF-16F isoforms would exert the most influence on life span regulation.

Based on our observations for the differential life span effects caused by DAF-16A and DAF-16F isoforms, we performed whole transcriptome profiling to identify target genes that are regulated by DAF-16A and DAF-16F isoforms (Chen et al. 2015). We first compared the transcriptome of long-lived *daf-2* mutant to wild-type and identify genes that are differentially regulated (Chen et al. 2015). Then we took those genes and ask which ones are regulated in the opposite direction in *daf-16(null);daf-2* and *daf-16a/f;daf-2* double mutants (Chen et al. 2015). This approach defined a set of 399 DAF-16A/F targets, genes that could be regulated by DAF-16A or DAF-16F or both isoforms (Chen et al. 2015). We wanted to determine the relative regulation received from DAF-16A and DAF-16F isoforms for each target genes; therefore, we calculated and empirically assigned a value to reflect the expression level mediated by *daf-16a* mutation and *daf-16f* mutation for each of the 399 target genes (Chen et al. 2015). This filtering strategy delineated amenable subsets of 57 DAF-16A isoform-specific target genes, 8 DAF-16F

16A and DAF-16F isoforms (Chen et al. 2015). The remainder 299 shared target genes of DAF-16A and DAF-16F receive varying regulation from both isoforms (Chen et al. 2015). DAF-16Aspecific genes likely contribute to the life span difference between *daf-16a;daf-2* and *daf-2* mutants, whereas redundantly regulated genes might be expected to account for the difference in the life spans of *daf-16a/f;daf-2* and *daf-16a;daf-2* double mutants. We identified *acs-3* as one of the redundant target gene that is upregulated by both DAF-16A and DAF-16F isoforms.

Results

Acyl-CoA synthase ACS-3 is required for DAF-2 life span extension

Reduction in IIS activates DAF-16/FoxO and extends longevity (Kenyon 2010). We anticipated a target gene upregulated by both DAF-16A and DAF-16F isoforms may contribute significantly to the life span extension in a *daf-2* mutant background. Since *acs-3* expression is increased by both major DAF-16/FoxO isoforms involved in regulating longevity, we hypothesized that loss-of-function mutation in *acs-3* will shorten the extended life span of *daf-2/IGFR* mutant if *acs-3* is necessary for DAF-16/FoxO-dependent life span control as suggested by our filtering strategy. To test this hypothesis, we obtained a publicly available *C. elegans* strain harboring a nonsense *acs-3(gk826522)* mutation in the predicted AMP-binding domain, which causes a premature stop codon and leads to a truncated protein product (Figure 2.1). *daf-2(e1370); acs-3(gk826522)* significantly shortens life span in wild-type background (Figure 2.2). This suggests *acs-3(gk826522)* mutation does not shorten life span due to general sickness. The median life span observed in *daf-2(e1370); acs-3(gk826522)* was 25 days compared to *daf-2(e1370)* mutant animals at 37 days.

Figure 2.1 Schematic of C. elegans acs-3.

(A) *acs-3* genomic locus. *acs-3(gk826522)* is a nonsense allele with a premature stop codon in the AMP-binding domain (B) Domain structure of ACS-3 protein. Domain is based on a sequence search of the Pfam database.



Figure 2.2 acs-3 activity is required for life span extension in daf-2/IGFR mutant.

acs-3(gk826522) suppresses life span extension phenotype of *daf-2(e1370)*. Aggregated data from three biological replicates. Curves of *daf-2(e1370);acs-3(gk826522)* and *daf-2(e1370)* are significantly different as calculated by the log-rank test; P < 0.0001.



ACS-3::GFP is expressed in glial cells, seam cells, and vulva

To determine the spatiotemporal expression pattern of ACS-3, we generated transgenic animals expressing an ACS-3::GFP fusion protein under the control of the endogenous *acs-3* promoter and *unc-54* 3'UTR. We observed ACS-3::GFP expression in vulva (Figure 2.3A), seam cells (Figure 2.3A and B), and in the nervous system (Figure 2.3C). Coexpression of ACS-3::GFP with the amphid sheath red fluorescence protein (RFP) revealed that ACS-3 is expressed in the amphid sheath glial cells (Figure 2.3D). ACS-3 protein is not predicted to have any transmembrane domain based on its amino acid sequence; therefore, it is likely localized to the inner leaflet of the cell membrane of seam cells (Figure 2.3B) and amphid socket cells (Figure 2.3D).

ACS-3 is necessary for *daf-2* life span extension but not sufficient to extend life span

Overexpression of the integrated *dpIS29[ACS-3::GFP]* transgene rescued life span extension in *daf-2(e1370);acs-3(gk826522)* double mutant, suggesting that ACS-3::GFP recapitulates endogenous ACS-3 expression and functions in the tissues where it is required for life span extension. However, overexpression of *dpIS29* had no effect on wild-type life span, indicating that ACS-3 is necessary but not sufficient to extend longevity (Figure 2.4)

Figure 2.3 Tissue-specific expression pattern of a functional ACS-3::GFP transgene.

(A) Confocal images showing ACS-3::GFP expression in vulva pointed by an arrowhead and seam cells pointed by arrows. (B) Zoom-in view of the dashed rectangle in (A) has characteristic oval shape and one longitudinal syncytium of seam cells. (C) ACS-3::GFP expression is present in the head region where asterisk denotes glial cells and arrowheads point to neurons. (D) ACS-3::GFP colocalizes with the amphid sheath reporter F16F6.9::dsRed.







Figure 2.4 ACS-3::GFP rescues the life span phenotype of *daf-2;acs-3* double mutants. Overexpression of the integrated *dpIS29[ACS-3::GFP]* transgene in *daf-2(e1370);acs-3(gk826522)* double mutant background rescues life span phenotype but does not influence life span in *daf-2(e1370)* mutant or wild-type background. Results are representative of two experiments. The median life span of *daf-2;acs-3;dpIS29* (red curve) was 40 days and the median life span of *daf-2;acs-3* (red dotted curve) was 33 days; two curves are significantly different as calculated by the log-rank test. P < 0.0001.



- *daf-2;acs-3;dpIS29*
- daf-2;dpIS29
- acs-3;dpIS29
- dpIS29
- daf-2
- daf-2;acs-3
- acs-3
- wild-type

Discussion

Aging has been considered as a stochastic process where accumulation of damaged DNA and proteins causes defects in cellular functions and in turn leads to the increased risk of pathologies such as tumor, insulin resistance, atherosclerosis, and neurodegenerative diseases. Isolation of the first long-lived *age-1* mutant in *C. elegans* (Klass 1983) and the discovery of a single *daf-2/IGFR* mutant extends life span in a DAF-16/FoxO-dependent manner (Kenyon 2010) indicate aging is indeed a genetically programed biological process. Interventions such as caloric restriction (Kaeberlein et al. 2004, Greer et al. 2007, Colman et al. 2009, Mattison et al. 2012) and rapamycin treatment (Powers et al. 2006, Harrison et al. 2009, Bjedov et al. 2010, Miller et al. 2011, Robida-Stubbs et al. 2012) have been shown to effectively extend life span in both invertebrates and mammals, suggesting future development of therapies targeting the highly conserved longevity-governing mechanisms has the potential to relieve age-associated morbidities and delay mortality in human.

Multiple physiological regulatory networks including dietary restriction, oxidative stress, nutrient sensing, and germline ablation converge on the DAF-16/FoxO transcription factor to influence life span (Kenyon 2010). We have established a framework for identifying and characterizing genes that regulate life span downstream of DAF-16/FoxO activation. Efforts from multiple groups have tried to identify a subset of DAF-16/FoxO target genes that are critical for controlling life span. However, due to the sheer number of transcriptional changes mediated by DAF-16/FoxO in various biological processes, downstream target genes that are necessary and sufficient to delay aging remain poorly understood. Our strategy utilized the underpinning mechanism of differential life span regulation exerted from DAF-16A and DAF-16F isoforms to facilitate the analysis of the whole transcriptome profiling data and define a

subset of candidate target genes that are responsible for the DAF-16/FoxO-dependent life span effect (Chen et al. 2015). This approach enabled us to identify a previously unknown DAF-16 target gene, ACS-3, as a novel longevity regulator, and lead to a genetic characterization of *acs-3*.

ACS-3 encodes an evolutionarily conserved acyl-coA synthase and it was first identified from a genetic screen looking for altered fat storage phenotypes. Previous work found loss-offunction *acs-3(ft5)* mutant increases lipid uptake, *de novo* fat synthesis, and lipid droplet accumulation in the intestine (Mullaney et al. 2010). However, ACS-3 has not been studied in the context of life span regulation, highlighting our filtering strategy can successfully identify novel regulators that are critical for longevity. Several but not all long-lived *daf-2* mutants exhibit DAF-16/FoxO-dependent elevation of fat storage and synthesis phenotypes (Perez and Van Gilst 2008). Emerging evidence suggests the possibility that IIS may reconfigure fat metabolism to promote longevity where the transcript levels of fat elongase *elo-1*, *elo-2*, and *elo-5* as well as the fatty acid desaturase *fat-4* are decreased in long-lived *age-1* mutant (Reis et al. 2011). Furthermore, *daf-2* mutant has been found to increase the activity of lysosomal lipase *lipl-4* and RNAi targeting *lipl-4* can reduce the extended life span of *daf-2/IGFR* mutant (Wang et al. 2008).

Prior study has generated a transcriptional *acs-3* reporter and found that *acs-3* transcripts are present in seam cells, vulva, excretory cell, and unidentified cells in the head as well as the tail regions (Mullaney et al. 2010). This data closely corresponds to the expression pattern observed from our translational ACS-3::GFP transgene reporter strain. Subsequent rescuing experiment demonstrated that expressing *acs-3* cDNA in the seam cell of *acs-3(ft5)* mutant animals is sufficient to reverse the increased fat storage phenotype back to wild-type level

(Mullaney et al. 2010). This unexpected result is rather interesting because seam cell has not been implicated in fat storage or regulation. Moreover, the absence of *acs-3* transcript and ACS-3 protein in the intestine, which is the largest adipose tissue as well as a major organ responsible for fat metabolism in *C. elegans*, suggests ACS-3 may act cell non-autonomously to influence lipid storage in the intestine. Therefore, determining the tissue requirement for ACS-3 activity is likely to elucidate the role of fat metabolism in modulating longevity. Future experiments reconstituting functional ACS-3 construct driven by individual tissue-specific promoters in amphid sheath cell, seam cell, vulva, and sensory neurons to test their ability to rescue the shortened life span of *daf-2(e1370); acs-3(gk826522)* double mutant can provide mechanistic insights for life span regulation mediated by DAF-16/FoxO.

The recombinant *C. elegans* ACS-3 protein has been shown to have similar *in vitro* activity as commercially available *Pseudomonas* acyl-coA synthetase (Mullaney et al. 2010). However, the *in vivo* function of ACS-3 remains to be determined. Fatty acid profiling of long-lived mutants revealed that mono-unsaturated fatty acid (MUFA) accumulation is positively correlated with *daf-2* mutant (Reis et al. 2011). In addition, dietary supplementation of oleic acid and palmitoleic acid, both of which are species of MUFAs, is sufficient to extend life span in wild-type animals (Han et al. 2017). ACSL5, the mammalian homolog of ACS-3, was reported to possess higher enzymatic activity metabolizing palmitoleic acid and oleic acid as its preferred substrates in comparison to poly-unsaturated fatty acids (Klett et al. 2017). Collectively, this evidence suggests a plausible hypothesis where *C. elegans* ACS-3 may play an important role in catalyzing MUFAs to influence fat metabolism and regulate longevity. To test this hypothesis, a straightforward experiment is to examine whether the life span extension caused by the supplementation of oleic acid or palmitoleic acid depends on functional ACS-3. If ACS-3

activity is required, we expect supplementing *acs-3(gk826522)* mutant with oleic acid or palmitoleic acid will not increase longevity in contrary to the life span promoting effect observed in wild-type animals.

Fatty acids are building blocks of lipids that constitute biological membranes to protect living organisms from harsh environmental challenges. Lipids are also energy sources and have important functions as signaling molecules mediating communication across different tissues to coordinate fat synthesis, storage, or metabolism that can influence organismal physiology in response to nutrient availability and energy demand (Liu et al. 2014, Sunshine and Iruela-Arispe 2017). Acyl-coA synthase is a critical enzyme that activates fatty acid for entry into pathways of degradation, complex lipid formation, esterification to proteins, and eicosanoids synthesis (Grevengoed et al. 2014). It remains unclear how ACS-3 activity promotes longevity. While ACS-3::GFP is only expressed in certain tissues, it may play a role in channeling or partitioning specific fatty acid substrates into signaling transduction pathways to regulate life span. Future studies utilizing unbiased metabolomic approach (Edison and Schroeder 2010) to identify ACS-3 substrates by comparing the lipid profiles differentially regulated in *daf-2*, *daf-2*;*acs-3*, and *daf-2*;*acs-3*;*dpIS29* may generate hypotheses about pro-longevity functions of ACS-3.

In summary, our study has established a novel strategy to prioritize DAF-16 isoformspecific target genes that are involved in regulating life span and characterized a previously unknown role of ACS-3 for life span extension in reduced IIS background. Future studies will establish whether ACS-3 acts on specific fatty acid substrates through potentially conserved downstream mechanisms to contribute to life span extension.

Materials and Methods

C. elegans strains and maintenance

Animals were maintained at 15°C on nematode growth media NGM seeded with *Escherichia coli* strain OP50. Compound mutants were constructed using standard genetic techniques. Genotypes were confirmed by using PCR followed by restriction digestion to detect restriction fragment length polymorphisms or using three primer PCR assays to detect deletions based on product size. *acs-3(gk826522)* strain was outcrossed from VC40812 provided by the CGC, which is funded by NIH Office of Research Infrastructure Programs (P40 OD010440). Amphid sheath reporter F16F6.9::dsRed strain was a gift from Dr. Shai Shaham. Percival incubators were used for maintenance and life span assays.

Life span assays

Life span was assayed as previously described with minor modifications (Chen et al. 2015). Animals derived from a synchronized 6-hour egg lay were grown at 15°C until the L4 larval stage to prevent any dauer formation, transferred to 20°C during day 1 of adulthood, then placed on plates seeded with 20X OP50 containing 6.25 μ g/ml 5'-fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine (FUDR; Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA) to prevent progeny production and 0.001% nystatin (Sigma-Aldrich) to avoid fungal contamination. Plates harboring any males were discarded. Animals were scored as dead if they did not respond to being touched with a platinum wire pick, and animals with ruptured vulvas were censored. Statistical significance was assessed using the standard log-rank test in GraphPad Prism.

Transgenic strain construction

Translational ACS-3::GFP construct was generated by fusing the ACS-3 coding sequence and a 4.6 kb *acs-3* promoter to GFP followed by *unc-54* 3'UTR in pPD95.75 as a vector backbone (Andrew Fire; Addgene plasmid # 1494 ; http://n2t.net/addgene:1494 ; RRID:Addgene_1494) using Gibson assembly kit (New England Biolabs, MA, USA). Animals were injected as previously described (Mello et al. 1991) using a Leica DMI300B microscope and Eppendorf FemtoJet pump. Extrachromosomal arrays were integrated as previously described (Mello et al. 1991) using a Stratalinker 1800 (Stratagene) at 325 μ J/cm² x 100. L4 animals with the ACS-3::GFP array were irradiated, then allowed to lay eggs until food was consumed. Transgenic animals were then singled and propagated. Transgenic animals whose progeny were 100% positive for the ACS-3::GFP reporter were backcrossed six times prior to analysis.

Confocal microscopy

Animals were immobilized with 25 mM sodium azide. Animals were mounted on slides layered with a thin 3% agarose in H₂O pad and images were captured by a Photometrics Prime 95B sCMOS monochrome camera attached to a Nikon TiE inverted Spinning Disk Confocal Microscope using NIS-element software (Nikon).

References

Bartke, A. (2011). Single-gene mutations and healthy ageing in mammals. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **366**(1561): 28-34.

Bjedov, I., Toivonen, J. M., Kerr, F., Slack, C., Jacobson, J., Foley, A. and Partridge, L. (2010). Mechanisms of life span extension by rapamycin in the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster. *Cell metabolism* **11**(1): 35-46.

Bluher, M., Kahn, B. B. and Kahn, C. R. (2003). Extended longevity in mice lacking the insulin receptor in adipose tissue. *Science* **299**(5606): 572-574.

Chen, A. T.-Y., Guo, C., Itani, O. A., Budaitis, B. G., Williams, T. W., Hopkins, C. E., McEachin, R. C., Pande, M., Grant, A. R. and Yoshina, S. (2015). Longevity genes revealed by integrative analysis of isoform-specific daf-16/FoxO mutants of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* **201**(2): 613-629.

Clancy, D. J., Gems, D., Harshman, L. G., Oldham, S., Stocker, H., Hafen, E., Leevers, S. J. and Partridge, L. (2001). Extension of life-span by loss of CHICO, a Drosophila insulin receptor substrate protein. *Science* **292**(5514): 104-106.

Colman, R. J., Anderson, R. M., Johnson, S. C., Kastman, E. K., Kosmatka, K. J., Beasley, T. M., Allison, D. B., Cruzen, C., Simmons, H. A. and Kemnitz, J. W. (2009). Caloric restriction delays disease onset and mortality in rhesus monkeys. *Science* **325**(5937): 201-204.

Edison, A. S. and Schroeder, F. C. (2010). NMR–small molecules and analysis of complex mixtures. <u>Comprehensive Natural Products II</u> <u>Chemistry and Biology</u>.

Greer, E. L., Dowlatshahi, D., Banko, M. R., Villen, J., Hoang, K., Blanchard, D., Gygi, S. P. and Brunet, A. (2007). An AMPK-FOXO pathway mediates longevity induced by a novel method of dietary restriction in C. elegans. *Current biology* **17**(19): 1646-1656.

Grevengoed, T. J., Klett, E. L. and Coleman, R. A. (2014). Acyl-CoA metabolism and partitioning. *Annual review of nutrition* **34**: 1.

Han, S., Schroeder, E. A., Silva-García, C. G., Hebestreit, K., Mair, W. B. and Brunet, A. (2017). Mono-unsaturated fatty acids link H3K4me3 modifiers to C. elegans lifespan. *Nature* **544**(7649): 185-190.

Harrison, D. E., Strong, R., Sharp, Z. D., Nelson, J. F., Astle, C. M., Flurkey, K., Nadon, N. L., Wilkinson, J. E., Frenkel, K. and Carter, C. S. (2009). Rapamycin fed late in life extends lifespan in genetically heterogeneous mice. *Nature* **460**(7253): 392-395.

Joshi, P. K., Pirastu, N., Kentistou, K. A., Fischer, K., Hofer, E., Schraut, K. E., Clark, D. W., Nutile, T., Barnes, C. L. and Timmers, P. R. (2017). Genome-wide meta-analysis associates HLA-DQA1/DRB1 and LPA and lifestyle factors with human longevity. *Nature communications* **8**(1): 1-13.

Kaeberlein, M., Kirkland, K. T., Fields, S., Kennedy, B. K. and Dillin, A. (2004). Sir2independent life span extension by calorie restriction in yeast. *PLoS biology* **2**(9): e296.

Kaletsky, R., Lakhina, V., Arey, R., Williams, A., Landis, J., Ashraf, J. and Murphy, C. T. (2016). The C. elegans adult neuronal IIS/FOXO transcriptome reveals adult phenotype regulators. *Nature* **529**(7584): 92-96.

Kenyon, C., Chang, J., Gensch, E., Rudner, A. and Tabtiang, R. (1993). A C. elegans mutant that lives twice as long as wild type. *Nature* **366**(6454): 461-464.

Kenyon, C. J. (2010). The genetics of ageing. *Nature* **464**(7288): 504-512.

Klass, M. R. (1983). A method for the isolation of longevity mutants in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans and initial results. *Mechanisms of ageing and development* **22**(3-4): 279-286.

Klett, E. L., Chen, S., Yechoor, A., Lih, F. B. and Coleman, R. A. (2017). Long-chain acyl-CoA synthetase isoforms differ in preferences for eicosanoid species and long-chain fatty acids [S]. *Journal of lipid research* **58**(5): 884-894.

Kwon, E.-S., Narasimhan, S. D., Yen, K. and Tissenbaum, H. A. (2010). A new DAF-16 isoform regulates longevity. *Nature* **466**(7305): 498-502.

Lee, S. S., Kennedy, S., Tolonen, A. C. and Ruvkun, G. (2003). DAF-16 target genes that control C. elegans life-span and metabolism. *Science* **300**(5619): 644-647.

Lin, K., Dorman, J. B., Rodan, A. and Kenyon, C. (1997). daf-16: An HNF-3/forkhead Family Member That Can Function to Double the Life-Span of <i>Caenorhabditis elegans</i>. *Science* **278**(5341): 1319-1322.

Liu, S., Alexander, R. K. and Lee, C.-H. (2014). Lipid metabolites as metabolic messengers in inter-organ communication. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism* **25**(7): 356-363.

Mattison, J. A., Roth, G. S., Beasley, T. M., Tilmont, E. M., Handy, A. M., Herbert, R. L., Longo, D. L., Allison, D. B., Young, J. E. and Bryant, M. (2012). Impact of caloric restriction on health and survival in rhesus monkeys from the NIA study. *Nature* **489**(7415): 318-321.

McElwee, J., Bubb, K. and Thomas, J. H. (2003). Transcriptional outputs of the Caenorhabditis elegans forkhead protein DAF-16. *Aging cell* **2**(2): 111-121.

McElwee, J. J., Schuster, E., Blanc, E., Thomas, J. H. and Gems, D. (2004). Shared transcriptional signature in Caenorhabditis elegans Dauer larvae and long-lived daf-2 mutants implicates detoxification system in longevity assurance. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **279**(43): 44533-44543.

Mello, C. C., Kramer, J. M., Stinchcomb, D. and Ambros, V. (1991). Efficient gene transfer in C. elegans: extrachromosomal maintenance and integration of transforming sequences. *The EMBO journal* **10**(12): 3959-3970.

Miller, R. A., Harrison, D. E., Astle, C., Baur, J. A., Boyd, A. R., De Cabo, R., Fernandez, E., Flurkey, K., Javors, M. A. and Nelson, J. F. (2011). Rapamycin, but not resveratrol or simvastatin, extends life span of genetically heterogeneous mice. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A* **66**(2): 191-201.

Mullaney, B. C., Blind, R. D., Lemieux, G. A., Perez, C. L., Elle, I. C., Faergeman, N. J., Van Gilst, M. R., Ingraham, H. A. and Ashrafi, K. (2010). Regulation of C. elegans fat uptake and storage by acyl-CoA synthase-3 is dependent on NR5A family nuclear hormone receptor nhr-25. *Cell metabolism* **12**(4): 398-410.

Murphy, C. T. (2006). The search for DAF-16/FOXO transcriptional targets: approaches and discoveries. *Experimental gerontology* **41**(10): 910-921.

Murphy, C. T., McCarroll, S. A., Bargmann, C. I., Fraser, A., Kamath, R. S., Ahringer, J., Li, H. and Kenyon, C. (2003). Genes that act downstream of DAF-16 to influence the lifespan of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature* **424**(6946): 277-283.

Ogg, S., Paradis, S., Gottlieb, S., Patterson, G. I., Lee, L., Tissenbaum, H. A. and Ruvkun, G. (1997). The Fork head transcription factor DAF-16 transduces insulin-like metabolic and longevity signals in C. elegans. *Nature* **389**(6654): 994-999.

Oh, S. W., Mukhopadhyay, A., Dixit, B. L., Raha, T., Green, M. R. and Tissenbaum, H. A. (2006). Identification of direct DAF-16 targets controlling longevity, metabolism and diapause by chromatin immunoprecipitation. *Nature genetics* **38**(2): 251-257.

Paradis, S. and Ruvkun, G. (1998). Caenorhabditis elegans Akt/PKB transduces insulin receptorlike signals from AGE-1 PI3 kinase to the DAF-16 transcription factor. *Genes & development* **12**(16): 2488-2498.

Perez, C. L. and Van Gilst, M. R. (2008). A 13C isotope labeling strategy reveals the influence of insulin signaling on lipogenesis in C. elegans. *Cell metabolism* **8**(3): 266-274.

Powers, R. W., Kaeberlein, M., Caldwell, S. D., Kennedy, B. K. and Fields, S. (2006). Extension of chronological life span in yeast by decreased TOR pathway signaling. *Genes & development* **20**(2): 174-184.

Reis, R. J. S., Xu, L., Lee, H., Chae, M., Thaden, J. J., Bharill, P., Tazearslan, C., Siegel, E., Alla, R. and Zimniak, P. (2011). Modulation of lipid biosynthesis contributes to stress resistance and longevity of C. elegans mutants. *Aging (Albany NY)* **3**(2): 125.

Robida-Stubbs, S., Glover-Cutter, K., Lamming, D. W., Mizunuma, M., Narasimhan, S. D., Neumann-Haefelin, E., Sabatini, D. M. and Blackwell, T. K. (2012). TOR signaling and rapamycin influence longevity by regulating SKN-1/Nrf and DAF-16/FoxO. *Cell metabolism* **15**(5): 713-724.

Shimokawa, I., Komatsu, T., Hayashi, N., Kim, S. E., Kawata, T., Park, S., Hayashi, H., Yamaza, H., Chiba, T. and Mori, R. (2015). The life-extending effect of dietary restriction requires F oxo3 in mice. *Aging cell* **14**(4): 707-709.

Sunshine, H. and Iruela-Arispe, M. L. (2017). Membrane lipids and cell signaling. *Current opinion in lipidology* **28**(5): 408.

Tepper, R. G., Ashraf, J., Kaletsky, R., Kleemann, G., Murphy, C. T. and Bussemaker, H. J. (2013). PQM-1 complements DAF-16 as a key transcriptional regulator of DAF-2-mediated development and longevity. *Cell* **154**(3): 676-690.

Tullet, J. M., Araiz, C., Sanders, M. J., Au, C., Benedetto, A., Papatheodorou, I., Clark, E., Schmeisser, K., Jones, D. and Schuster, E. F. (2014). DAF-16/FoxO directly regulates an atypical AMP-activated protein kinase gamma isoform to mediate the effects of insulin/IGF-1 signaling on aging in Caenorhabditis elegans. *PLoS genetics* **10**(2): e1004109.

Wang, M. C., O'Rourke, E. J. and Ruvkun, G. (2008). Fat metabolism links germline stem cells and longevity in C. elegans. *Science* **322**(5903): 957-960.

Yamamoto, R. and Tatar, M. (2011). Insulin receptor substrate chico acts with the transcription factor FOXO to extend Drosophila lifespan. *Aging cell* **10**(4): 729-732.

Chapter 3 Collagen COL-75 induces ER Unfolded Protein Response Cell Non-autonomously in *C. elegans* Abstract

We previously identified the conserved ER transmembrane translocon-associated protein-<u>1</u> (TRAP-1) as a novel regulator of DAF-2/IGFR signaling and demonstrated TRAP α , the mammalian ortholog of TRAP-1, is required for preproinsulin translocation, proinsulin processing and secretion, and insulin biogenesis. In humans, TRAP α is expressed in multiple tissues in addition to pancreas, suggesting it is very likely to have other biological functions distinct from its role in insulin biogenesis. TRAP α knockdown activates eIF2 α in the rat pancreatic beta cell line while *trap-1* mutant induces *hsp-4::GFP* ER UPR reporter expression in C. elegans. To investigate the role of trap-1 in ER homeostasis, we conducted a mutagenesis screen for <u>modifiers</u> of the <u>trap-1</u> mutant phenotype (mtro screen). The mtro screen identified several known ER UPR pathway components as well as a strain harboring a missense mutation (N162K) in the col-75 collagen gene that causes constitutive intestinal hsp-4::GFP expression. A transcriptional col-75 promoter dsRed fusion protein reveals COL-75 is expressed in limited tissues including amphid socket glia, excretory cells, phasmid sheath glia, and vulva. These expression patterns do not colocalize with the *hsp-4::GFP* expression induced by *col*-75(N162K), suggesting the possibility that missense collagen mutant may induce ER UPR cell non-autonomously. Collagen missense variants associated with human disease induce ER stress.

Thus, understanding the role of COL-75 in ER UPR may yield insights into the therapeutic development for collagenopathies that currently lack effective disease mechanism-targeting therapies.

Introduction

All proteins must fold properly in order to function and nearly one-third of cellular proteins are cotranslationally translocated into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) during their biogenesis. Protein biogenesis can be an error-prone process where unfolded or misfolded ER proteins accumulation may lead to ER stress and perturb ER homeostasis. ER stress has been associated with many aging-related diseases including non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, atherosclerosis, cancer, diabetes, and neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer, Parkinson, and Huntington's diseases (Gidalevitz et al. 2010, Tabas 2010, Lebeaupin et al. 2018). In response to ER stress, evolutionarily conserved machinery known as ER unfolded protein response (UPR) activates downstream transcriptional network to increase capacity for protein folding, degradation, and secretion while tuning down global translation to reduce ER workload. The main components of the mammalian ER UPR are conserved in *C.elegans*, including the unfolded protein sensors IRE-1, PEK-1/PERK, and ATF-6 as well as two HSPA5/BiP homologs HSP-3 and HSP-4. Under normal condition, BiP binds to all three unfolded protein sensors to inhibit their activity. In the event of ER stress, misfolded proteins in the ER lumen titrate BiP from the canonical ER stress sensors and subsequently activates three branches of the UPR pathway. After the dissociation of BiP, IRE-1 becomes activated via dimerization and transautophosphorylation. Activation of IRE-1 leads to noncanonical RNase splicing of the *xbp-1* mRNA and subsequently activates the *xbp-1*-dependent transcriptional programs that can enhance protein trafficking, quality control, and folding machineries as well as genes encoding

multiple ER chaperones, including *hsp-4*/BiP. When PEK-1/PERK is released from BiP, it goes through dimerization and autophosphorylation to become active. PEK-1/PERK activation then leads to phosphorylation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor-2 (eIF2α), which decreases the frequency of mRNA translation and reduces ER workload. In the absence of ER stress, BiP binds to ATF-6 and shields the Golgi localization sequence of ATF-6 to remain inactive on the ER membrane. ATF-6 is transported to Golgi for protease splicing after it is released from BiP, then the cleaved ATF-6 transcription factor domain becomes active and migrates to the nucleus to bind to ER-stress responsive promoter elements to upregulate transcription of UPR target genes. The structural and functional conservation of the ER UPR pathway in *C. elegans* as a genetically tractable model organism makes it a useful tool to investigate the molecular mechanisms of the canonical ER UPR pathways and can provide insights into ER homeostasis maintenance in other organisms.

trap-1 is a suppressor of eak-7; akt-1 (seak) gene

We previously performed a genetic screen to identify novel regulators suppressing the daf-c phenotype of an *eak-7;akt-1* double mutant strain that has increased DAF-16/FoxO activity. We isolated a mutant strain *dpDf665* containing a roughly 3.5kb deletion that spanned the *trap-1* (*tr*anslocon-*a*ssociated *p*rotein-1) locus and 3 exons of the upstream gene *Y71F9AL.1* (Li et al. 2019). To determine if *trap-1* is the causal mutation in this mutant strain, three independent *trap-1* null alleles were generated and they phenocopied *dpDf665* deletion while a null mutation in *Y71F9AL.1* did not suppress the dauer phenotype in *eak-7;akt-1* mutant background (Li et al. 2019). This result suggests that *trap-1* is a *bono fide seak* gene that can suppress *eak-7;akt-1* dauer arrest.

trap-1 specifically influences dauer arrest phenotype regulated by IIS

In addition to the IIS, DAF-7/TGFβ and DAF-9/steroid hormone pathways can also regulate dauer arrest phenotype, where mutations in either of these two pathway components can promote animals to arrest as dauer (Hu 2007). In order to determine if TRAP-1 functions as a general dauer arrest regulator in other signaling contexts, double mutants of trap-1;daf-1 and trap-1;daf-9 reveal that trap-1 mutation does not suppress dauer arrest phenotype in daf-1/TGFB receptor mutant background and *daf-9*/steroid hormone mutant background. In contrast, *trap-1* mutation is able to suppresses the dauer arrest phenotype caused by reduction in DAF-2/IGFR activity, suggesting TRAP-1 specifically antagonizes IIS to promote dauer arrest (Li et al. 2019). We tested other *daf-2/IGFR* mutant alleles and found *trap-1* mutation can only suppress the *daf-*2 alleles e1368 and m212 both of which encode receptors with missense mutations in the extracellular ligand-binding domain (Li et al. 2019). Although the nature of each daf-2 allele mutant is not entirely understood, we found *trap-1* mutation is unable to suppress the dauer arrest phenotype of the *daf-2* mutant alleles that affect the cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase domain (Li et al. 2019). This suggests the possibility that *trap-1* may function upstream of DAF-2/IGFR to regulate dauer arrest. DAF-2/IGFR is regulated by agonistic and antagonistic insulin-like peptides (Pierce et al. 2001, Hung et al. 2014). In the presence of the agonistic insulin-like peptides, the DAF-2/IGFR is active and wild-type animals develop normally at 25°C because DAF-16/FoxO activity is suppressed. When the agonistic insulin-like peptides are mutated and the antagonistic insulin-like peptides remain functional such as the case of *ins-4 ins-6;daf-28* triple mutant, animals exhibit daf-c phenotype because the antagonistic insulin-like peptides now suppress DAF-2/IGFR to activate DAF-16/FoxO activities and therefore triple mutant animals arrest as dauers (Hung et al. 2014). We found that *trap-1* mutation can partially suppress the

dauer arrest phenotype of *ins-4 ins-6;daf-28* triple mutant which is consistent with a model whereby TRAP-1 promotes antagonist insulin-like peptide action to modulate dauer arrest (Li et al. 2019).

TRAPa is required for insulin biogenesis

The biological function of mammalian TRAP-1 homolog TRAPα has not been established, previous study has demonstrated that TRAPα can interact with the preprolactin signal peptide during *in vitro* protein translocation (Wiedmann et al. 1987). Expression of human insulin in *C. elegans* suppresses DAF-2/InsR signaling (Pierce et al. 2001); therefore, we wanted to explore the possibility that TRAPα may be involved in promoting insulin biogenesis as we observed in *C elegans*. We generated rat INS 832/13 pancreatic beta cell line lacking TRAPα by CRISPR-Cas9-mediated genome editing to test this hypothesis. Immunoblotting assays against preproinsulin and pulse-chase experiments monitoring the processing and secretion of insulin in TRAPα knockout cells found defects in preproinsulin ER translocation, proinsulin maturation, and insulin secretion (Li et al. 2019). These findings implicate TRAPα plays a critical role in the biosynthesis of insulin.

TRAP-1 is expressed in the ER and regulates ER UPR

To study the spatiotemporal expression pattern of TRAP-1, we generated a transgenic *C. elegans* strain expressing a functional single-copy TRAP-1::mCherry fusion protein (Li et al. 2019). TRAP-1::mCherry is widely expressed in embryo, larvae, and adult animals. Closer examination found TRAP-1::mCherry expression in the pharynx, intestine, hypodermis, and vulva. To define the subcellular localization of TRAP-1, we found TRAP-1::mCherry colocalizes with the ER protein peptidase fused to GFP, GFP::SP12, indicating the endogenous TRAP-1 localizes to the ER. Similarly, immunostaining of rat insulinoma cells with anti-TRAP α antibodies reveals colocalization with ER proteins recognized by anti-KDEL antibodies (Li et al. 2019). Since TRAP-1 is expressed in multiple tissues in C. elegans and human TRAPα is widely expressed in several tissues as opposed to the limited expression of insulin in pancreas, we reasoned that TRAP-1 is very likely to participate in the biogenesis of other ER client proteins and may be a general regulator to maintain ER homeostasis. Prior work in mouse fibroblast found TRAPa physically associates with ER-associated degradation (ERAD) substrates, suggesting that TRAP α may play a role in reducing ER stress (Nagasawa et al. 2007). In C. elegans, ER stress can induce the transcription of hsp-4, which encodes a homolog of the human ER BiP; therefore, we utilized a transgenic strain expressing hsp-4::GFP reporter as a proxy for disrupted ER homeostasis to test our hypothesis (Calfon et al. 2002). While green fluorescence was not detected from *hsp-4::GFP* in wild-type background, *trap-1;hsp-4::GFP* animals readily exhibit GFP signal under the same culture condition, suggesting trap-1 mutation can induce ER stress (Li et al. 2019). Although reduction of TRAP α activity in rat INS 832/13 cells did not induce IRE1-dependent splicing of *xbp-1* mRNA, TRAPa knockdown by siRNA increased the phosphorylation of eIF2a, which indicates mammalian TRAPa may also influence ER homeostasis (Li et al. 2019).

Results

A genetic screen for modifiers of *trap-1* mutant phenotype (*mtro* screen)

To further study the molecular basis for the role of TRAP-1 in promoting ER homeostasis, we performed a forward genetic screen for <u>modifiers</u> of <u>trap-1</u> mutant phenotype (<u>mtro</u> screen). We reasoned that a genetic screen for mutations which could affect the *hsp*-

4::GFP expression phenotype of *trap-1* mutant might identify novel regulators of ER UPR pathways. Therefore, we mutagenized *trap-1(null*) animals harboring an integrated *hsp-4::GFP* reporter with N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea (ENU) and screened rare F2 progeny for enhanced or suppressed GFP expression. After verifying the penetrance of the change in GFP in subsequent generations, nine independent mutants with enhanced GFP expression (etro - enhancer of trap-<u>1</u>) and three independent mutants with suppressed GFP expression (*stro* – suppressor of <u>trap-1</u>) were subjected to whole genome sequencing. For *etro* mutant strains with increased *hsp-4::GFP* expression, candidate causal mutations were separated from the parental *trap-1(null*) mutant background and tested for their ability to induce GFP expression in a wild-type trap-1 background. For mutant strains exhibiting decreased hsp-4::GFP expression (stro), candidate causal mutations were verified by ascertaining retention of the decreased GFP phenotype in the trap-1(null) mutant background after separation of all linked ENU-induced mutations. Candidate causal mutations were identified based on known of hypothesized roles in ER homeostasis. For mutant strains without obvious candidate mutations, we performed single nucleotide polymorphism mapping to help us narrow down to a specific region of the chromosome that would allow us to individually test the candidate causal mutations.

The *mtro* screen identifies genes that influence ER homeostasis

We have verified causal alleles in one mutant with reduced *hsp-4::GFP* expression and seven mutants with increased *hsp-4::GFP* expression (Table 3.1). The *mtro* screen identified known ER UPR pathway components such as the ER unfolded protein sensor *ire-1* and *C*. *elegans* HSPA5/BiP ortholog *hsp-3*. A missense mutant affecting the kinase domain of the ER unfolded protein sensor IRE-1 has been shown to suppress ER UPR triggered by tunicamycin treatment (Calfon et al. 2002). One *mtro* strain harboring *ire-1(G26E)* mutation was outcrossed

with wild-type animals to separate neighboring mutations that are also present in the same strain and tested for its ability to suppress hsp-4::GFP expression in *trap-1* mutant background. We found *trap-1;ire-1(G26E)* double mutant reduces the hsp-4::GFP expression caused by ER stress induced by *trap-1* mutant, suggesting *ire-1* is a causal *mtro* mutant (Figure 3.1).

hsp-4::GFP expression	Mutated gene	Human ortholog	Causal mutation	Conserved residue?
suppressed (stro)	ire-1	IRE1	G26E	No
Enhanced <i>(etro)</i>	hsp-3	HSPA5/BiP	T34A	Yes
			I66S	Yes
			deletion	N/A
	pdi-2	PDIA1/P4HB	K322M	Yes
	pdi-6	PDIA6	W204R	Yes
	smg-2	UPF1	W723*	N/A
	col-75	collagen	N162K	No

Table 3.1 Causal mutations in eight independent *mtro* mutants.

The *mtro* screen identified three strains harboring mutations in *hsp-3* (Figure 3.2), which encodes one of the two human orthologs of HSPA5/BiP; the other is *hsp-4* (Kaufman 1999). Two missense alleles (*T34A* and *I66S*) affecting conserved amino acids (Figure 3.3 and 3.4) and one partial deletion (Figure 3.5) of *hsp-3* enhance *hsp-4::GFP* expression in *trap-1* mutant background. To verify *hsp-3* as a *bono fide mtro* mutant, we tested an independent *hsp-3(ok1083)* allele and found *trap-1;hsp-3(ok1083)* double mutant phenocopies the mutagenized *hsp-3 mtro* mutant strains (Figure 3.6). All three *hsp-3 mtro* mutants can induce *hsp-4::GFP* expression in wild-type background similar to the phenotype that has been previously observed in *hsp-3(ok1083)* (Kapulkin et al. 2005).

Figure 3.1 *ire-1(G26E)* is a causal *mtro* mutant that can suppress *hsp-4::GFP* expression in *trap-1* mutant background.

(A) Bright field and (B) fluorescence images of young adult *hsp-4::GFP* animals in *trap-1;ire-1(G26E)*, *trap-1*, and wild-type. Scale bar: 500µm.





wild-type trap-1

wild-type

Figure 3.2 Schematic of *hsp-3* genomic region.

mtro screen identified three *hsp-3* mutant alleles (T34A, I66S, and deletion). An independent *ok1083* deletion allele was tested for its ability to enhance *hsp-4::GFP* expression in *trap-1* mutant background.



Figure 3.3 *hsp-3(T34A)* is a causal *mtro* mutant that can enhance *hsp-4::GFP* expression in *trap-1* mutant background.

(A) Bright field and (B) fluorescence images of young adult *hsp-4::GFP* animals in *trap-1;hsp-3(T34A)*, *hsp-3(T34A)*, *trap-1*, and wild-type. Scale bar: 500µm.





wild-type trap-1

wild-type

Figure 3.4 hsp-3(I66S) is a causal mtro mutant that can enhance hsp-4::GFP expression in trap-1 mutant background.

(A) Bright field and (B) fluorescence images of young adult *hsp-4::GFP* animals in *trap-1;hsp-*3(166S), hsp-3(166S), trap-1, and wild-type. Scale bar: 500µm.





wild-type

wild-type

Figure 3.5 hsp-3(mtro deletion) is a causal mtro mutant that can enhance hsp-4::GFP expression in *trap-1* mutant background.

(A) Bright field and (B) fluorescence images of young adult *hsp-4::GFP* animals in *trap-1;hsp-*3(mtro deletion), hsp-3(mtro deletion), trap-1, and wild-type. Scale bar: 500µm.





wild-type

wild-type

Figure 3.6 An independent *hsp-3(ok1083)* allele phenocopies *hsp-3 mtro* mutants and enhances *hsp-4::GFP* expression in *trap-1* mutant background.

(A) Bright field and (B) fluorescence images of young adult *hsp-4::GFP* animals in *trap-1;hsp-3(ok1083), hsp-3(ok1083), trap-1*, and wild-type. Scale bar: 500µm.



trap-1

wild-type

trap-1

wild-type

In addition to hsp-3, we have identified other causal mutations in pdi-2(K322M), pdi-6(W204R), and smg-2(W723*), all of which increases hsp-4::GFP expression and has known functions in maintaining ER homeostasis. The two missense hsp-3/BiP alleles and the pdi-2 and pdi-6 alleles all affect amino acids that are conserved in human BiP, PDIA1, and PDIA6. pdi-2 and pdi-6 encode protein disulfide isomerases that play a role in facilitating proper protein folding (Eletto et al. 2014, Jang et al. 2019). Unlike the missense hsp-3 mutants identified in other *mtro* strains, both missense alleles of *pdi-2(K322M)* and *pdi-6(W204R)* mutants enhance hsp-4::GFP expression in trap-1 mutant background (Figure 3.7 and 3.8). However, pdi-2(K322M) mutant does not induce hsp-4::GFP expression in wild-type background (Figure 3.7) whereas *pdi-6(W204R)* single mutant can mildly induce *hsp-4::GFP* expression (Figure 3.8). Previous study found pdi-2 RNAi knockdown induces calreticulin expression, which is a calcium-binding chaperone located in the lumen of ER and plays a role in the folding of newly synthesized proteins (Lee et al. 2007). Recent study reported knockout of mammalian PDIA1 leads to glucose intolerance in mice fed with high fat diet and further analysis found PDIA1 regulates proinsulin disulfide maturation in the ER (Jang et al. 2019). RNAi knockdown of pdi-6 has been shown to induce hsp-4::GFP expression and previous study also demonstrated PDI-6 facilitates the decay of active IRE-1 to attenuates the duration of IRE-1 activity by binding to the luminal domain of IRE-1 (Eletto et al. 2014). Similar to hsp-3, nonsense mutation in smg-2(W723*) can both enhance hsp-4::GFP expression in trap-1 mutant background as well as induce hsp-4::GFP expression in wild-type background (Figure 3.9). smg-2 encodes the C elegans homolog of the key nonsense mediated decay (NMD) component UPF1 in yeast and previous study has implicated the role of smg-2 in ER UPR where loss-of-function smg-2 mutation increases spliced *xbp-1* mRNA when compared to wild-type animal (Richardson et al.

2011). Taken together, these causal mutations indicate the *mtro* screen can effectively identify proteins that are critical for regulating ER homeostasis.

Figure 3.7 *pdi-2(K322M)* is a causal *mtro* mutant that can enhance *hsp-4::GFP* expression in *trap-1* mutant background.

(A) Bright field and (B) fluorescence images of young adult *hsp-4::GFP* animals in *trap-1;pdi-2(K322M)*, *pdi-2(K322M)*, *trap-1*, and wild-type. Scale bar: 500µm.



trap-1

wild-type

trap-1

wild-type
Figure 3.8 pdi-6(W204R) is a causal mtro mutant that can enhance hsp-4::GFP expression in trap-1 mutant background.

(A) Bright field and (B) fluorescence images of young adult *hsp-4::GFP* animals in *trap-1;pdi-*6(W204R), pdi-6(W204R), trap-1, and wild-type. Scale bar: 500µm.



trap-1

wild-type

wild-type

Figure 3.9 *smg-2(W723*)* is a causal *mtro* mutant that can enhance *hsp-4::GFP* expression in *trap-1* mutant background.

(A) Bright field and (B) fluorescence images of young adult *hsp-4::GFP* animals in *trap-1;smg-2(W723*)*, *smg-2(W723*)*, *trap-1*, and wild-type. Scale bar: 250µm.





trap-1

wild-type



trap-1

wild-type

Neomorphic col-75 alleles activate the ER UPR

One *mtro* strain did not have an obvious causal mutation candidate, however, single nucleotide polymorphism mapping suggests the increased *hsp-4::GFP* expression phenotype is closely linked to the center region of chromosome II (data not shown). Our sequencing data only has two nonsynonymous mutations in this particular region: *eas-1* and *col-75*. To determine if either one of these two mutations is the causal *mtro* mutation in this strain, we crossed wild-type animal with the mutagenized strain and generated one line that only has *col-75* mutation and another line that only has *eas-1* mutation. *col-75(N162K)* mutation enhances *hsp-4::GFP* expression in *trap-1* mutant background and induces *hsp-4::GFP* expression in wild-type background (Figure 3.10), whereas *trap-1;eas-1* double mutant only has similar *hsp-4::GFP* expression level as observed in *trap-1* mutant (Figure 3.11). These results suggest *col-75(N162K)* is the causal *mtro* mutation.

To test if the canonical IRE-1-XBP-1 ER unfolded protein pathway is involved in the induction of hsp-4::GFP caused by col-75(N162K). We generated col-75(N162K);xbp-1 double mutant and observed strong suppression of the hsp-4::GFP expression compared to that in col-75(N162K) single mutant animals (Figure 3.12). This suggests XBP-1 is required for the induction of hsp-4::GFP expression by col-75(N162K).

C. elegans col-75 encodes a predicted cuticle collagen with a domain structure characteristic of fibril-forming collagens (Figure 3.13) (Ricard-Blum 2011). To determine if *col-75* is the *bona fide* mutation that induces *hsp-4::GFP* expression, we assayed independent *col-75* mutant alleles to find out if they can phenocopy the mutagenized *col-75(N162K)*. We compared *hsp-4::GFP* expression in *col-75(N162K)* to that in three other *col-75* mutant backgrounds: the nonsense allele *Q224**, as well as the missense alleles *P258L*, and *G208E* (Figure 3.13). *hsp-*

4::GFP expression in $col-75(Q224^*)$ nonsense mutants is similar to that in a wild-type col-75background and significantly lower than that in col-75(N162K) (Figure 3.14A). col-75(P258L)induces hsp-4::GFP expression but to a lesser degree than col-75(N162K) (Figure 3.14B). Interestingly, col-75(G154R) induces hsp-4::GFP expression strongly and specifically in posterior intestinal cells (Figure 3.14C dashed box). These results suggest col-75(N162K) is a neomorphic allele and the increased hsp-4::GFP expression phenotype is not due to loss-offunction of COL-75. We observed heterozygous col-75(N162K) mutants do not express increased levels of hsp-4::GFP compared to wild-type col-75(N162K) siblings (data not shown), indicating that col-75(N162K) is recessive. In addition, COL-75 may have unknown roles other than being a structural molecule for extracellular matrix because different missense alleles can induce distinct hsp-4::GFP expression patterns or COL-75 may possess different functions depending on the tissue in which it is expressed.

Figure 3.10 *col-75(N162K)* is a causal *mtro* mutant that can enhance *hsp-4::GFP* expression in *trap-1* mutant background.

(A) Bright field and (B) fluorescence images of young adult *hsp-4::GFP* animals in *trap-1;col-75(N162K)*, *col-75(N162K)*, *trap-1*, and wild-type. Scale bar: 250µm.



trap-1

wild-type

trap-1

wild-type

Figure 3.11 *eas-1 mutant can not* enhance *hsp-4::GFP* expression in *trap-1* mutant background.

(A) Bright field and (B) fluorescence images of young adult *hsp-4::GFP* animals in *trap-1;eas-1*, *eas-1*, *trap-1*, and wild-type. Scale bar: 500µm.

В



trap-1

Α

wild-type

trap-1;eas-1 eas-1

trap-1 wild-type

Figure 3.12 XBP-1 is required for induction of *hsp-4::GFP* caused by *col-75(N162K)*.

(A) Bright field and (B) fluorescence images of young adult *hsp-4::GFP* animals in *col-75(N162k);xbp-1, col-75(N162K), xbp-1*, and wild-type. Scale bar: 250µm.



Figure 3.13 Schematic of C. elegans COL-75.

Domains are based on a sequence search of the Pfam database. The positions of missense alleles are shown.



Figure 3.14 Multiple missense *col-75* alleles induce *hsp-4::GFP* expression.

Bright field (Left) and fluorescence (right) images of young adult *hsp-4::GFP* animals in (A) *col-75(Q224*)*, (B) *col-75(P258L)*, and (C) *col-75(G154R)* compared to wild-type and *col-75(N162K)* in the same field of view. Arrows denote spermathecae. Scale bar: 250µm.



col-75p::dsRed is expressed in amphid socket cells, excretory cells, vulva, and phasmid sheath cells but not in the intestine

Single-cell RNA-seq of *C. elegans* reveals that *col-75* is expressed in a limited number of cells: the excretory cells, the socket glia, and pharyngeal neurons (Cao et al. 2017). However, *col-75* alleles induce *hsp-4::GFP* primarily in intestine and spermatheca (Figure 3.14). To experimentally determine the spatial expression pattern of COL-75, we generated transgenic animals expressing a transcriptional *col-75p::dsRed* fusion protein under the control of the endogenous *col-75* promoter and *unc-54* 3'UTR. Since COL-75 is predicted to be a secreted protein, a translational reporter would not be useful for identifying cells and tissues in which COL-75 is synthesized. We observed *col-75p::dsRed* expression in amphid socket cell and excretory cells (Figure 3.15A), phasmid sheath cells in the tail region (Figure 3.15B), and vulval muscle (Figure 3.15C).

col-75(N162K) may induce hsp-4::GFP expression cell non-autonomously

hsp-4/BiP is widely expressed in many tissues in *C. elegans* whereas *col-75* is only expressed in limited tissues (Figure 3.14). To further examine the possibility that *col-75(N162K)* can induce ER stress cell autonomously, we generated *col-75(N162K);IS[hsp-4::GFP];Ex[col-75p::dsRed]* transgenic strain expressing integrated *hsp-4::GFP* and *col-75p::dsRed* extrachromosomal array to specifically image cells expressing *col-75* and look for *hsp-4::GFP* signals within those cell types. Surprisingly, green fluorescence was not detected in amphid socket glia and excretory cell (Figure 3.16A), phasmid sheath cell (Figure 3.16B), and vulva (Figure 3.16C). Taken together, these results implicate *col-75(N162K)* may induce *hsp-4::GFP* expression in the intestine cell non-autonomously.

Figure 3.15 *col-75p::dsRed* expression pattern imaged by confocal microscopy.

col-75 transcript is detected in amphid socket glia (arrow head) and excretory cell (arrow) in (A) as well as phasmid sheath glia in (B) and vulva in (C). Scale bar: 25μ m.



Figure 3.16 *col-75p::dsRed* expression does not colocalize with *hsp-4::GFP* expression induced by *col-75(N162K)*.

col-75(N162K);IS[hsp-4::GFP];Ex[col-75p::dsRed] transgenic animals express *col-75p::dsRed* in amphid socket glia (arrow head) and excretory cell (arrow) in (A) as well as phasmid sheath glia in (B) and vulva in (C), while *hsp-4::GFP* is primarily expressed in the intestine (denoted by *). Scale bar: 25µm.



Discussion

Collagen is the most abundant proteins in mammals and it is defined by the presence of a triple helical motif comprised of three-amino-acid glycine repeats (-G-X-Y-), where X and Y can be any amino acid, but often are proline or hydroxyproline. The human genome contains 44 collagen genes encoding 28 types of trimeric proteins in the collagen superfamily (Salamito et al. 2021). Recent bioinformatic pipeline analysis has identified a total of 181 collagen genes in C. elegans (Teuscher et al. 2019), and the majority of nematode collagens functions as the structural proteins for the two major extracellular matrices: the cuticle and basement membrane (Kramer 2005, Page and Johnstone 2007, Teuscher et al. 2019). In a genetic screen for mutations that modulate expression of *hsp-4::GFP* ER UPR reporter, we isolated a missense allele of the collagen gene *col-75* predicted to change asparagine 162 to lysine (*N162K*), which causes constitutive intestinal *hsp-4::GFP* expression. The function of COL-75 is unknown and none of the col-75 alleles analyzed to date have obvious phenotypes such as blister (bli), dumpy (dpy), or roller (rol) phenotypes associated with many C. elegans collagen gene mutations that affect body morphology (Johnstone 2000). In contrast to a col-75 nonsense mutant, which does not activate the ER UPR, three independent *col-75* missense alleles induce constitutive intestinal *hsp-4::GFP* expression in qualitatively and quantitatively distinct manners (Figure 3.14). This is consistent with the observation that insertion of mutant collagen into the cuticle usually leads to a more severe phenotype than null alleles or mutations that result in a loss or a reduction in the amount of collagen in the extracellular matrix (Johnstone 2000, Page 2001). Since col-75(N162K) is not a loss-of-function allele, its emergence from an unbiased ENU mutagenesis screen highlights the usefulness of classical genetics in revealing new biological insights through neomorphic alleles.

Such discovery would not have emerged from RNAi-based or CRISPR-based screens that are designed to study gene function through reduction of gene activity.

Collagen biosynthesis is an intricate and multistep process consist of both intracellular and extracellular events. As for all secreted proteins, collagens are synthesized as proα-chains by ribosomes on the ER membrane and are cotranslationally translocated into the lumen of ER to be assembled into triple helix molecules. Procollagen proα-chains need to undergo critical posttranslational modifications involving cleavage of signal peptides, proline hydroxylation, lysine hydroxylation and glycosylation (Ricard-Blum 2011). After post-translational modification, collagen propeptides associate into either homotrimers or heterotrimers to form triple helix procollagen molecule with the assistance of ER chaperones including BiP and calreticulin as well as collagen modifying enzyme protein disulfide isomerases (Makareeva et al. 2011). The procollagen is then transported through the Golgi apparatus and secreted into the extracellular space where the N- and C- terminal propeptides are cleaved by extracellular matrix enzyme Nand C- proteinases (Makareeva et al. 2011, Ricard-Blum 2011, Salamito et al. 2021). Mature collagens can self-assemble spontaneously to form fibril structure which is strengthened by intraand intermolecular covalent cross-linking of collagens (Ricard-Blum 2011, Salamito et al. 2021).

The importance of ER homeostasis in collagen biosynthesis is underscored by the fact that multiple human collagen missense mutations activate ER UPR in relatively rare heritable diseases (Wong and Shoulders 2019, Bateman et al. 2022). The triple helix repeat domains of *C. elegans* COL-75 are most similar to those in human COL21A1, whose function is still unknown. While mice do not have COL21A1 gene (Fitzgerald and Bateman 2004), a microarray-based genome-wide linkage analysis of the Malaysian population revealed low copy number of *COL21A1* is associated with nonsyndromic orofacial cleft, which is a birth deformity that affects

73

lip and/or palate (Mohamad Shah et al. 2019). Mutations in the fibrillar collagen that disrupt triple helix structure are most prevalent in the collagenopathies. These mutations usually replace glycine with another amino acid where nearly 80% of all *COL1A1* mutations that lead to osteogenesis imperfecta, also known as brittle bone disease characterized by fragile bones, are glycine substitutions (Bateman et al. 2022).

Several germline mutations in human COL genes analogous to col-75(N162K) are known to cause diseases. A N617K missense mutation in human COL10A1 causes metaphyseal chondrodysplasia, Schmid type (MCDS) (Bonaventure et al. 1995), and a N1627K missense mutation in human COL4A1 causes brain small vessel disease with ocular abnormalities (Rødahl et al. 2013). In addition, two similar missense mutations that lie within the triple helix repeat domains, a Q1150K mutation in human COL4A2 and a Q455K mutation in human COL8A2, cause susceptibility to intracerebral hemorrhage and Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy, respectively (Biswas et al. 2001, Jeanne et al. 2012). Knock-in mice models for COL10A1(N617K) and COL8A2(O455K) have been generated and further studies have demonstrated mutant collagen alleles can induce ER stress in relevant disease target cells/tissues: COL10A1(N617K) activates the ER UPR in chondrocytes (Rajpar et al. 2009), and COL8A2(Q455K) induces ER stress in corneal epithelium (Jun et al. 2012). These findings implicate a relationship between the induction of ER stress and disease pathogenesis in MCDS and Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy. However, ER UPR activation by mutant collagen often leads to accumulation of collagen molecules in the ER, which causes secondary loss of collagen function due to reduced collagen secretion (Wong and Shoulders 2019). It is important to also consider the possibility that mutant collagen may escape from ER quality control machinery and may alter extracellular matrix composition, structure, interactions, as wells as communication

between cell and extracellular matrix since all of which are likely to influence disease pathology (Bateman et al. 2022). Therefore, it is difficult to directly attribute ER UPR induction as the underlying mechanism of mutant collagen alleles to the pathogenesis of collagenopathies. To distinguish the pathogenic effects between the ER UPR induction and the unexpected consequences of mutant collagen, Rajpar and colleagues (2009) generated transgenic mice in which the *cog* thyroglobulin mutant that causes ER stress was expressed under the control of the *COL10A1* promoter in hypertrophic chondrocytes. These mice developed clinical and pathologic signs of MCDS due to the targeted UPR induction caused by the misfolded thyroglobulin, demonstrating that ER stress *per se* can contribute to MCDS pathogenesis (Rajpar et al. 2009). In another misfolding COL10A1 MCDS transgenic mouse model, treatment with eIF2 α signaling cascade blocking agent, Integrated Stress Response Inhibitor (ISRIB), downregulates the PERK arm of the ER UPR pathway and alleviates the pathologies of chondrodysplasia, suggesting the crucial role of ER UPR in MCDS (Wang et al. 2018).

The thorough elucidation of the collagen biosynthesis and modification is essential for understanding the pathogenesis of collagenopathies and future development of therapeutic strategies that can benefit affected populations. One essential collagen modification that confers thermal stability to collagen triple helixes at human body temperature is the generation of 4hydroxyproline residues catalyzed by proline <u>4-hydroxylase</u> (P4H) in the ER lumen (Myllyharju 2008). Proline 4-hydroxylases are $\alpha_2\beta_2$ tetramers in which the β subunit is identical to the enzyme and chaperone protein disulfide isomerase (PDI) (Freedman et al. 1994). Germline proline 4-hydrxylase beta (P4HB) mutations cause Cole-Carpenter syndrome, which is an osteogenesis imperfecta-like illness (Rauch et al. 2015). The emergence of PDI-2, which is an ortholog of P4HB, from our *mtro* screen, further strengthening the importance of collagen and its

75

biosynthesis in the modulation of ER UPR. Taken together, these data strongly suggest that understanding how *col-75* mutant alleles activate the ER UPR in *C. elegans* will illuminate the pathogenesis of many genetic diseases caused by missense mutations in human *COL* genes.

Since *col-75(N162K*) does not exhibit any phenotype of other known collagen mutants, we wanted to examine the biological relevance of ER UPR induction as suggested by the widelyused hsp-4::GFP reporter. Preliminary results reveal that col-75(N162K) animals were as resistant to the ER stress inducer tunicamycin as wild-type (data not shown). This suggests the mild ER stress caused by col-75 N to K missense mutation does not significantly impair organismal health as opposed to the detrimental health effect of ER UPR induced by N to K missense mutation in human collagen genes. Although the induction of hsp-4::GFP expression by col-75(N162K) requires xbp-1 (Figure 3.12), we wanted to verify activation of endogenous XBP-1 by using RT-PCR to directly measure levels of spliced *xbp-1* (*xbp-1S*) (Taylor and Dillin 2013) induced by col-75 mutant in the absence of the hsp-4::GFP reporter. Intriguingly, our preliminary data shows col-75(N162K) mutant minimally increases xbp-1S levels compared to total xbp-1 (data not shown). Measuring xbp-1 transcript levels from whole animals may not be sensitive enough to detect the increased levels of *xbp-1S* caused by mutant collagen variants because col-75 is only expressed in very limited cell types. Alternatively, this finding suggests the possibility of signaling pathways acting parallel to *xbp-1S* may also induce *hsp-4::GFP* expression, either due to activation of PEK-1, ATF-6, other stress-responsive transcription factors that interface with the ER UPR such as SKN-1 (Glover-Cutter et al. 2013), or an undiscovered transcription factor that is activated by misfolded collagen. Together, these preliminary results underscore the importance of determining where does xbp-1 function to induce intestinal *hsp-4::GFP* expression.

76

Identifying the sites of action of *col-75(N162K)* in ER UPR induction will provide important mechanistic insights into the unknown function of COL-75. While col-75p::dsRed is not expressed in the same cells/tissues where *hsp-4::GFP* expression is induced by *col*-75(N162K) (Figure 3.16), single-cell RNA-seq analysis indicates col-75 is expressed at very low levels in the intestine (Cao et al. 2017). To determine whether low-level expression of col-75(N162K) in the intestine suffices to activate the ER UPR cell autonomously, we will generate transgenic animals expressing a col-75(N162K) cDNA under the control of promoters that drive intestine-specific expression at relatively modest levels. We will also test the ability of *col*-75(N162K) expression in the excretory cell, socket glia, phasmid sheath cells, and vulva to induce intestinal hsp-4::GFP expression. Since col-75(N162K) is recessive (data not shown), we will assay these constructs in a col-75(Q224*);hsp-4::GFP background to avoid potential confounding influences of wild-type COL-75. If col-75(N162K) acts cell autonomously to induce intestinal hsp-4::GFP expression, then only intestine-specific expression of intestine will induce intestinal *hsp-4::GFP* expression. Alternatively, the ability of other constructs to induce intestinal hsp-4::GFP expression would indicate that col-75(N162K) can act cell nonautonomously to induce hsp-4::GFP expression.

However, induction of intestinal hsp-4::GFP by forced expression of col-75(N162K) in the intestine does not establish that endogenous col-75(N162K) acts cell autonomously to activate hsp-4::GFP, since non-physiologic overexpression of mutant collagen in any tissue has the possibility to induce cell-autonomous ER UPR activation. We will test the ability of intestine-specific reduction of col-75(N162K) activity to abrogate hsp-4::GFP induction. To accomplish this, we will generate col-75(N162K);hsp-4::GFP animals in the RNAi-defective mutant background (Qadota et al. 2007) and restore RNAi sensitivity only in specific tissues by injecting animals with tissue-specific rescuing constructs then subject animals to *col-75* RNAi. Abolition of *hsp-4::GFP* expression by *col-75* RNAi in the excretory cell, socket cells, or phasmid sheath cell will implicate those cells as an important site for cell non-autonomous model of *col-75(N162K)* action in intestinal *hsp-4::GFP* induction..

In conclusion, we undertook an unbiased genetic screen for mutations that modulate expression of *hsp-4::GFP* ER UPR reporter and identified a novel missense collagen mutant *col-*75 that primarily induces intestinal ER UPR. Further characterizations suggest *col-75* may act cell non-autonomously to induce ER stress. While the exact function of COL-75 remains unclear, we propose future studies to determine the site of actions for *col-75* mutation in regulating ER UPR induction, which has the potential to establish the important role of collagen in ER proteostasis and facilitate development for new therapeutic targets to treat collagenopathies.

Materials and Methods

C. elegans strains and maintenance

Animals were maintained at 15°C on nematode growth media NGM seeded with *Escherichia coli* strain OP50. Compound mutants were constructed using standard genetic techniques. Genotypes were confirmed by using PCR followed by restriction digestion to detect restriction fragment length polymorphisms or using three primer PCR assays to detect deletions based on product size. $col-75(Q224^*)$ strain was outcrossed from VC40365, col-75(P258L) strain was outcrossed from VC30056, and col-75(G154R) strain was outcrossed from VC40573. All three strains were provided by the CGC, which is funded by NIH Office of Research Infrastructure Programs (P40 OD010440).

Genetic screen for modifiers of *trap-1*

The modifier of trap-1 (mtro) screen was performed by mutagenizing trap-1;hsp-4::GFP mutants with N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea and screening for rare animals in the F2 generation with either enhanced or suppressed hsp-4::GFP expression levels as described. Genomic DNA isolated from trap-1;hsp-4::GFP modifier strains was sequenced and analyzed as described (Dumas et al. 2013).

Transgenic strain construction

Transcriptional *col-75::dsRed* construct was generated by fusing a 1.5 kb *col-75* promoter to dsRed followed by *unc-54* 3'UTR in MC10-RFP as a vector backbone (Piali Sengupta; Addgene plasmid # 8938 ; http://n2t.net/addgene:8938 ; RRID:Addgene_8938) using Gibson assembly kit (New England Biolabs, MA, USA). Animals were injected as previously described (Mello et al. 1991) using a Leica DMI300B microscope and Eppendorf FemtoJet pump.

Fluorescence microcopy

Animals were mounted on a NGM plate and immobilized in a drop of 25mM sodium azide. Detection of green fluorescence was imaged using a Leica M165FC stereomicroscope with a (Leica) DFC9000 GT camera and a Lumencor sola light engine fluorescence lamp.

Confocal microscopy

Animals were immobilized with 25 mM sodium azide. Animals were mounted on slides layered with a thin 3% agarose in H₂O pad and images were captured by a Photometrics Prime 95B sCMOS monochrome camera attached to a Nikon TiE inverted Spinning Disk Confocal Microscope using NIS-element software (Nikon).

References

Bateman, J. F., Shoulders, M. D. and Lamandé, S. R. (2022). Collagen misfolding mutations: the contribution of the unfolded protein response to the molecular pathology. *Connective Tissue Research* **63**(3): 210-227.

Biswas, S., Munier, F. L., Yardley, J., Hart-Holden, N., Perveen, R., Cousin, P., Sutphin, J. E., Noble, B., Batterbury, M. and Kielty, C. (2001). Missense mutations in COL8A2, the gene encoding the $\alpha 2$ chain of type VIII collagen, cause two forms of corneal endothelial dystrophy. *Human molecular genetics* **10**(21): 2415-2423.

Bonaventure, J., Chaminade, F. and Maroteaux, P. (1995). Mutations in three subdomains of the carboxy-terminal region of collagen type X account for most of the Schmid metaphyseal dysplasias. *Human genetics* **96**(1): 58-64.

Calfon, M., Zeng, H., Urano, F., Till, J. H., Hubbard, S. R., Harding, H. P., Clark, S. G. and Ron, D. (2002). IRE1 couples endoplasmic reticulum load to secretory capacity by processing the XBP-1 mRNA. *Nature* **415**(6867): 92-96.

Cao, J., Packer, J. S., Ramani, V., Cusanovich, D. A., Huynh, C., Daza, R., Qiu, X., Lee, C., Furlan, S. N. and Steemers, F. J. (2017). Comprehensive single-cell transcriptional profiling of a multicellular organism. *Science* **357**(6352): 661-667.

Dumas, K. J., Delaney, C. E., Flibotte, S., Moerman, D. G., Csankovszki, G. and Hu, P. J. (2013). Unexpected role for dosage compensation in the control of dauer arrest, insulin-like signaling, and FoxO transcription factor activity in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* **194**(3): 619-629.

Eletto, D., Eletto, D., Dersh, D., Gidalevitz, T. and Argon, Y. (2014). Protein disulfide isomerase A6 controls the decay of IRE1 α signaling via disulfide-dependent association. *Molecular cell* **53**(4): 562-576.

Fitzgerald, J. and Bateman, J. F. (2004). Why mice have lost genes for COL21A1, STK17A, GPR145 and AHRI: evidence for gene deletion at evolutionary breakpoints in the rodent lineage. *Trends in genetics* **20**(9): 408-412.

Freedman, R. B., Hirst, T. R. and Tuite, M. F. (1994). Protein disulphide isomerase: building bridges in protein folding. *Trends in biochemical sciences* **19**(8): 331-336.

Gidalevitz, T., Kikis, E. A. and Morimoto, R. I. (2010). A cellular perspective on conformational disease: the role of genetic background and proteostasis networks. *Current opinion in structural biology* **20**(1): 23-32.

Glover-Cutter, K. M., Lin, S. and Blackwell, T. K. (2013). Integration of the unfolded protein and oxidative stress responses through SKN-1/Nrf. *PLoS genetics* **9**(9): e1003701.

Hu, P. J. (2007). Dauer. WormBook, ed. The C. elegans Research Community, WormBook, doi/10.1895/wormbook.1.7.1, <u>http://www.wormbook.org</u>.

Hung, W. L., Wang, Y., Chitturi, J. and Zhen, M. (2014). A Caenorhabditis elegans developmental decision requires insulin signaling-mediated neuron-intestine communication. *Development* **141**(8): 1767-1779.

Jang, I., Pottekat, A., Poothong, J., Yong, J., Lagunas-Acosta, J., Charbono, A., Chen, Z., Scheuner, D. L., Liu, M. and Itkin-Ansari, P. (2019). PDIA1/P4HB is required for efficient proinsulin maturation and ß cell health in response to diet induced obesity. *elife* **8**: e44528.

Jeanne, M., Labelle-Dumais, C., Jorgensen, J., Kauffman, W. B., Mancini, G. M., Favor, J., Valant, V., Greenberg, S. M., Rosand, J. and Gould, D. B. (2012). COL4A2 mutations impair COL4A1 and COL4A2 secretion and cause hemorrhagic stroke. *The American Journal of Human Genetics* **90**(1): 91-101.

Johnstone, I. L. (2000). Cuticle collagen genes: expression in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Trends in genetics* **16**(1): 21-27.

Jun, A. S., Meng, H., Ramanan, N., Matthaei, M., Chakravarti, S., Bonshek, R., Black, G. C., Grebe, R. and Kimos, M. (2012). An alpha 2 collagen VIII transgenic knock-in mouse model of Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy shows early endothelial cell unfolded protein response and apoptosis. *Human molecular genetics* **21**(2): 384-393.

Kapulkin, V., Hiester, B. G. and Link, C. D. (2005). Compensatory regulation among ER chaperones in C. elegans. *FEBS letters* **579**(14): 3063-3068.

Kaufman, R. J. (1999). Stress signaling from the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum: coordination of gene transcriptional and translational controls. *Genes & development* **13**(10): 1211-1233.

Kramer, J. M. (2005). Basement membranes. *WormBook, ed. The C. elegans Research Community, WormBook, doi/10.1895/wormbook.1.7.1, <u>http://www.wormbook.org</u>.*

Lebeaupin, C., Vallée, D., Hazari, Y., Hetz, C., Chevet, E. and Bailly-Maitre, B. (2018). Endoplasmic reticulum stress signalling and the pathogenesis of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Journal of hepatology* **69**(4): 927-947.

Lee, D., Singaravelu, G., Park, B.-J. and Ahnn, J. (2007). Differential requirement of unfolded protein response pathway for calreticulin expression in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal of molecular biology* **372**(2): 331-340.

Li, X., Itani, O. A., Haataja, L., Dumas, K. J., Yang, J., Cha, J., Flibotte, S., Shih, H.-J., Delaney, C. E., Xu, J., Qi, L., Arvan, P., Liu, M. and Hu, P. J. (2019). Requirement for translocon-associated protein (TRAP) α in insulin biogenesis. *Science advances* **5**(12): eaax0292.

Makareeva, E., Aviles, N. A. and Leikin, S. (2011). Chaperoning osteogenesis: new proteinfolding disease paradigms. *Trends in cell biology* **21**(3): 168-176.

Mello, C. C., Kramer, J. M., Stinchcomb, D. and Ambros, V. (1991). Efficient gene transfer in C. elegans: extrachromosomal maintenance and integration of transforming sequences. *The EMBO journal* **10**(12): 3959-3970.

Mohamad Shah, N. S., Sulong, S., Wan Sulaiman, W. A. and Halim, A. S. (2019). Two novel genes TOX3 and COL21A1 in large extended Malay families with nonsyndromic cleft lip and/or palate. *Molecular genetics & genomic medicine* 7(5): e635.

Myllyharju, J. (2008). Prolyl 4-hydroxylases, key enzymes in the synthesis of collagens and regulation of the response to hypoxia, and their roles as treatment targets. *Annals of medicine* 40(6): 402-417.

Nagasawa, K., Higashi, T., Hosokawa, N., Kaufman, R. J. and Nagata, K. (2007). Simultaneous induction of the four subunits of the TRAP complex by ER stress accelerates ER degradation. *EMBO reports* **8**(5): 483-489.

Page, A. P. (2001). The Nematode Cuticle: Synthesis, Modification and Mutants. <u>Parasitic</u> <u>Nematodes Molecular Biology, Biochemistry and Immunology</u>. M. W. Kennedy and H. W., CABI Publishing: 167.

Page, A. P. and Johnstone, I. (2007). The cuticle. *WormBook, ed. The C. elegans Research Community, WormBook, doi/10.1895/wormbook.1.7.1, <u>http://www.wormbook.org</u>.*

Pierce, S. B., Costa, M., Wisotzkey, R., Devadhar, S., Homburger, S. A., Buchman, A. R., Ferguson, K. C., Heller, J., Platt, D. M. and Pasquinelli, A. A. (2001). Regulation of DAF-2 receptor signaling by human insulin and ins-1, a member of the unusually large and diverse C. elegans insulin gene family. *Genes & development* **15**(6): 672-686.

Qadota, H., Inoue, M., Hikita, T., Köppen, M., Hardin, J. D., Amano, M., Moerman, D. G. and Kaibuchi, K. (2007). Establishment of a tissue-specific RNAi system in C. elegans. *Gene* **400**(1-2): 166-173.

Rajpar, M. H., McDermott, B., Kung, L., Eardley, R., Knowles, L., Heeran, M., Thornton, D. J., Wilson, R., Bateman, J. F., Poulsom, R., Arvan, P., Kadler, K. E., Briggs, M. D. and Boot-Handford, R. P. (2009). Targeted induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress induces cartilage pathology. *PLoS genetics* **5**(10): e1000691.

Rauch, F., Fahiminiya, S., Majewski, J., Carrot-Zhang, J., Boudko, S., Glorieux, F., Mort, J. S., Bächinger, H.-P. and Moffatt, P. (2015). Cole-Carpenter syndrome is caused by a heterozygous missense mutation in P4HB. *The American Journal of Human Genetics* **96**(3): 425-431.

Ricard-Blum, S. (2011). The collagen family. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* **3**(1): a004978.

Richardson, C. E., Kinkel, S. and Kim, D. H. (2011). Physiological IRE-1-XBP-1 and PEK-1 signaling in Caenorhabditis elegans larval development and immunity. *PLoS genetics* **7**(11): e1002391.

Rødahl, E., Knappskog, P. M., Majewski, J., Johansson, S., Telstad, W., Kråkenes, J. and Boman, H. (2013). Variants of anterior segment dysgenesis and cerebral involvement in a large family with a novel COL4A1 mutation. *American journal of ophthalmology* **155**(5): 946-953. e942.

Salamito, M., Nauroy, P. and Ruggiero, F. (2021). The collagen superfamily: everything you always wanted to know. <u>The Collagen Superfamily and Collagenopathies</u>. F. Ruggiero, Springer: 1-22.

Tabas, I. (2010). The role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in the progression of atherosclerosis. *Circulation research* **107**(7): 839-850.

Taylor, R. C. and Dillin, A. (2013). XBP-1 is a cell-nonautonomous regulator of stress resistance and longevity. *Cell* **153**(7): 1435-1447.

Teuscher, A. C., Jongsma, E., Davis, M. N., Statzer, C., Gebauer, J. M., Naba, A. and Ewald, C. Y. (2019). The in-silico characterization of the Caenorhabditis elegans matrisome and proposal of a novel collagen classification. *Matrix Biology Plus* **1**: 100001.

Wang, C., Tan, Z., Niu, B., Tsang, K. Y., Tai, A., Chan, W. C., Lo, R. L., Leung, K. K., Dung, N. W. and Itoh, N. (2018). Inhibiting the integrated stress response pathway prevents aberrant chondrocyte differentiation thereby alleviating chondrodysplasia. *elife* **7**: e37673.

Wiedmann, M., Kurzchalia, T. V., Hartmann, E. and Rapoport, T. A. (1987). A signal sequence receptor in the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. *Nature* **328**(6133): 830-833.

Wong, M. Y. and Shoulders, M. D. (2019). Targeting defective proteostasis in the collagenopathies. *Current opinion in chemical biology* **50**: 80-88.

Chapter 4 Conclusion and Future Directions

Overview

This dissertation built upon our previous studies to further investigate the critical downstream target genes of DAF-16/FoxO transcription factor and the molecular basis for the role of a conserved ER transmembrane protein TRAP-1 (<u>translocon-a</u>ssociated <u>p</u>rotein-1) in promoting ER homeostasis. In chapter two, we used an unbiased transcriptome profiling approach and DAF-16 isoform-specific prioritization strategy to identify DAF-16/FoxO target genes that are associated with longevity. We than followed up with a genetic characterization of the acyl-coA synthase gene, *acs-3*, that contributes to life span regulation in the context of reduced insulin-like signaling. In chapter 3, we performed an unbiased forward genetic screen to identify <u>m</u>odifiers of the <u>trap-1</u> mutant phenotype (*mtro* screen). We identified several known ER UPR pathway components and a missense mutant allele of collagen *col-75* gene. Further characterization suggests that *col-75* may act cell non-autonomously to induce ER stress. In the final chapter, we summarize our findings and propose experiments for future studies.

ACS-3 acts downstream of DAF-16/FoxO to promote longevity

To identify downstream mechanisms through which DAF-16 acts to regulate longevity, we profiled the transcriptomes of long-lived *daf-2/IGFR* mutant animals in the context of wild-type *daf-16/FoxO* and isoform-specific *daf-16/FoxO* mutant alleles (Chen et al. 2015). Since both DAF-16A and F isoforms are the major isoforms in regulating life span (Kwon et al. 2010, Chen et al. 2015), we employed a prioritization strategy based on the hierarchical action of DAF-16 isoforms in longevity control and focused our attention to target genes that are primarily regulated by DAF-16A isoform and the target genes that are redundantly regulated by both DAF-16A and F isoforms.

acs-3 is redundantly upregulated by both DAF-16A and F isoforms. We demonstrated that ACS-3 is required for full life span extension in animals with reduced DAF-2/IGFR signaling since a nonsense mutation in *acs-3* suppresses the life span extension of *daf-2/IGFR* mutant. Overexpression of ACS-3::GFP can rescue the shortened life span phenotype of *daf-2;acs-3* double mutant, however, it is not sufficient to extend life span in the wild-type background or further extend the longevity of a *daf-2* mutant.

The *in vivo* biological functions of *acs-3*, especially in the context of aging, have yet to be determined. Expression of an *acs-3* cDNA construct in seam cell, which has not been implicated in the regulation of lipid metabolism, rescues the elevated fat storage phenotype of a missense *acs-3* allele (Mullaney et al. 2010). This suggests *acs-3* may act cell non-autonomously to influence organismal physiology as well as longevity. Therefore, it is of particular interest to determine the site of action for ACS-3 in promoting life span extension. We propose tissue-specific RNAi knockdown of *acs-3* in *daf-2* mutant background to identify the tissue requirement in life span control. In a complementary approach, we could reconstitute *acs-3*

cDNA driven by promoters specifically expressed in the amphid sheath cell, seam cell, and vulva of *daf-2;acs-3(null)* animals and test their ability to reverse the shortened life span phenotype.

Another strategy to elucidate the biological function of ACS-3 might be to determine whether ACS-3 acts in pathway with other downstream longevity regulators using genetic epistasis and molecular experiments. The predicted biochemical function of ACS-3 is to activate fatty acid for lipid metabolism. Published studies suggest the life-extending function of lipases depends on the generation of lipid signals that promote autophagy and downstream transcriptional events (Lapierre et al. 2011, O'Rourke et al. 2013, Folick et al. 2015). ACS-3 may play an important role in channeling or partitioning specific fatty acid species to promote autophagy. We could use reporter strains to assess the role of *acs-3* in autophagy. We could also attempt to identify ACS-3 substrates using unbiased metabolomic approaches and look for metabolites or fatty acids that are altered in a *daf-16* and *acs-3* dependent manner in a *daf-2* mutant background. In a candidate ligand approach, we could test the requirement of ACS-3 activity in animals supplemented with either oleic acid or palmitoleic acid, which have been associated with different long-lived C. elegans models (Han et al. 2017, Imanikia et al. 2019). Recent study has shown that lysosomal lipid chaperone LBP-8, which is necessary for the prolongevity effect of lysosomal lipase LIPL-4, binds to oleic acid (Folick et al. 2015, Tillman et al. 2019). Interestingly, both oleic acid and palmitoleic acid have been found to induce the expression of GFP::LGG-1 autophagosome marker (Niso-Santano et al. 2015). Detailed molecular characterization in acs-3 has the potential to elucidate the critical role of fat metabolism in longevity and offers new therapeutic targets to treat aging-associated diseases and promote healthy aging in human.

86

COL-75 may induce ER UPR cell non-autonomously

In the course of studying the role of the conserved ER transmembrane protein TRAP-1 in the biogenesis of insulin-like peptides, we discovered that TRAP-1 and its mammalian ortholog TRAPa have conserved roles in promoting ER homeostasis that are independent of their function in insulin-like peptide biosynthesis (Li et al. 2019). To gain insight into this function of TRAP-1, we performed a forward genetic *mtro* screen for mutants that modify the *hsp-4::GFP* ER UPR reporter expression phenotype caused by *trap-1* mutant. We have pinpointed causal alleles in one *mtro* mutant with suppressed *hsp-4::GFP* expression and 8 *mtro* mutants with enhanced *hsp-*4::GFP expression as many of which are known components of the ER UPR pathway. In one strain with increased hsp-4::GFP expression, we identified a causal missense allele of the collagen gene col-75 predicted to change asparagine 162 to lysine (N162K) in the triple helix domain. Independent *col-75* missense mutant alleles phenocopy the increased *hsp-4::GFP* expression phenotype of *col-75(N162K*), suggesting the predicted misfolded COL-75 is likely biologically relevant in perturbing ER homeostasis. col-75;xbp-1 double mutant suppresses the hsp-4::GFP expression caused by col-75(N162K), suggesting the misfolded COL-75 variant can activate the canonical IRE-1-XBP-1 arm of the ER UPR pathway. Transcriptional col-75p::dsRed transgenic reporter reveals the expression pattern of col-75 is distinct from the tissues with the strongest hsp-4::GFP expression in col-75(N162K) mutant background, indicating the possibility that *col-75* may induce ER UPR cell non-autonomously.

How does misfolded collagen variant induce ER UPR is still unknown. Our preliminary finding reveals *col-75(N162K)* minimally induces endogenous level of spliced *xbp-1* (*XBP-1S*) mRNA, suggesting the possibility of *xbp-1S*-independeent induction of *hsp-4::GFP* expression. We could assess the activation of PEK-1 or ATF-6 to detect the involvement of the other ER

UPR branches biochemically. The fact that col-75(N162K) mutant does not exhibit any common phenotypes observed in other collagen mutant strains hints to the compensatory effect of ERAD and/or autophagy since they are major quality control mechanisms in the degradation of misfolded ER proteins (Qi et al. 2017, Ferro-Novick et al. 2021). We could test the hypothesis that col-75(N162K) animals are able to maintain organismal health in spite of constitutive ER UPR activation through upregulation of ERAD and/or autophagy, both of which can be assayed by using fluorescent report strains. Identifying the site of action of col-75(N162K) in ER UPR is particularly important to distinguish between the mode of cell autonomous or non-autonomous induction of intestinal hsp-4::GFP expression. To accomplish this, we could use two approaches of driving expression of misfolded COL-75 variants and RNAi knockdown of col-75(N162K)activity in a tissue-specific manner as described previously in the discussion of chapter 3.

Establishing the identities of genes that influence the induction of ER UPR by misfolded collagen variant is critical to understand the mechanistic underpinning mediated by *col*-75(N162K). We will perform an unbiased forward genetic screen to identify genes that modify the *hsp-4::GFP* expression caused by *col-75(N162K)*. As we did for the *mtro* screen that yielded *col-75(N162K)*. We expect to identify mutants whose gene products normally function to promote COL-75 folding, trimerization, posttranslational modification and trafficking, as well as those that play general roles in maintaining ER homeostasis to enhance *hsp-4::GFP* expression. For mutants with decreased *hsp-4::GFP* expression, we anticipate to identify alleles of *ire-1* and *xbp-1*, and gene products that normally function to convey information about COL-75 misfolding to *hsp-4*. One potentially exciting class of mutants with reduced GFP expression would be those that are involved in communication cross tissues and are capable of transmitting signals from the excretory or amphid socket cells, or phasmid sheath cells to the intestine to

increase *hsp-4::GFP* expression [if *col-75(N162K)* acts non-autonomously to induce intestinal *hsp-4::GFP* expression].

Conclusion

This dissertation sought to understand the function of *acs-3* in regulating DAF-16mediated longevity and the molecular role of *col-75* in ER UPR. While we have not yet reached definitive answers to both inquiries, we have identified a new DAF-16/FoxO target gene with interesting and potentially conserved effects on fatty acid metabolism as well as longevity and demonstrated the presence of mutant collagen variant in specific tissues may lead to ER UPR to influence organismal health. We hope that the characterization described here will go on to facilitate studies which further elucidate the mechanisms of life span extension and develop new interventions to treat or prevent diseases associated with elder population and ER homeostasis.

Reference

Chen, A. T.-Y., Guo, C., Itani, O. A., Budaitis, B. G., Williams, T. W., Hopkins, C. E., McEachin, R. C., Pande, M., Grant, A. R. and Yoshina, S. (2015). Longevity genes revealed by integrative analysis of isoform-specific daf-16/FoxO mutants of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* **201**(2): 613-629.

Ferro-Novick, S., Reggiori, F. and Brodsky, J. L. (2021). Er-phagy, ER homeostasis, and ER quality control: Implications for disease. *Trends in biochemical sciences* **46**(8): 630-639.

Folick, A., Oakley, H. D., Yu, Y., Armstrong, E. H., Kumari, M., Sanor, L., Moore, D. D., Ortlund, E. A., Zechner, R. and Wang, M. C. (2015). Lysosomal signaling molecules regulate longevity in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Science* **347**(6217): 83-86.

Han, S., Schroeder, E. A., Silva-García, C. G., Hebestreit, K., Mair, W. B. and Brunet, A. (2017). Mono-unsaturated fatty acids link H3K4me3 modifiers to C. elegans lifespan. *Nature* **544**(7649): 185-190.

Imanikia, S., Sheng, M., Castro, C., Griffin, J. L. and Taylor, R. C. (2019). XBP-1 remodels lipid metabolism to extend longevity. *Cell reports* **28**(3): 581-589. e584.

Kwon, E.-S., Narasimhan, S. D., Yen, K. and Tissenbaum, H. A. (2010). A new DAF-16 isoform regulates longevity. *Nature* **466**(7305): 498-502.

Lapierre, L. R., Gelino, S., Meléndez, A. and Hansen, M. (2011). Autophagy and lipid metabolism coordinately modulate life span in germline-less C. elegans. *Current biology* **21**(18): 1507-1514.

Li, X., Itani, O. A., Haataja, L., Dumas, K. J., Yang, J., Cha, J., Flibotte, S., Shih, H.-J., Delaney, C. E., Xu, J., Qi, L., Arvan, P., Liu, M. and Hu, P. J. (2019). Requirement for transloconassociated protein (TRAP) α in insulin biogenesis. *Science advances* **5**(12): eaax0292.

Mullaney, B. C., Blind, R. D., Lemieux, G. A., Perez, C. L., Elle, I. C., Faergeman, N. J., Van Gilst, M. R., Ingraham, H. A. and Ashrafi, K. (2010). Regulation of C. elegans fat uptake and storage by acyl-CoA synthase-3 is dependent on NR5A family nuclear hormone receptor nhr-25. *Cell metabolism* **12**(4): 398-410.

Niso-Santano, M., Malik, S. A., Pietrocola, F., Bravo-San Pedro, J. M., Mariño, G., Cianfanelli, V., Ben-Younès, A., Troncoso, R., Markaki, M. and Sica, V. (2015). Unsaturated fatty acids induce non-canonical autophagy. *The EMBO journal* **34**(8): 1025-1041.

O'Rourke, E. J., Kuballa, P., Xavier, R. and Ruvkun, G. (2013). ω -6 Polyunsaturated fatty acids extend life span through the activation of autophagy. *Genes & development* **27**(4): 429-440.

Qi, L., Tsai, B. and Arvan, P. (2017). New insights into the physiological role of endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation. *Trends in cell biology* **27**(6): 430-440.

Tillman, M. C., Khadka, M., Duffy, J., Wang, M. C. and Ortlund, E. A. (2019). Structural characterization of life-extending Caenorhabditis elegans Lipid Binding Protein 8. *Scientific Reports* **9**(1): 1-13.